
 
 

GOVERNANCE, STRATEGY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY 
BOARD 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Agenda 
 
 

Date Thursday 4 December 2025 
 

Time 6.00 pm 
 

Venue J R Clynes Second Floor Room 1 - The JR Clynes Building 
 

Notes 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- If a Member requires advice on any 
item involving a possible declaration of interest which could affect his/her 
ability to speak and/or vote he/she is advised to contact Alex Bougatef or 
Constitutional Services at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 
 
2. CONTACT OFFICER for this agenda is Constitutional Services or email 
constitutional.services@oldham.gov.uk  
 
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - Any Member of the public wishing to ask a 
question at the above meeting can do so only if a written copy of the 
question is submitted to the contact officer by 12 noon on Tuesday 2nd 
December 2025. 
 
4.  FILMING - The Council, members of the public and the press may record 
/ film / photograph or broadcast this meeting when the public and the press 
are not lawfully excluded.  Any member of the public who attends a meeting 
and objects to being filmed should advise the Constitutional Services Officer 
who will instruct that they are not included in the filming. 
 
Please note that anyone using recording equipment both audio and visual 
will not be permitted to leave the equipment in the room where a private 
meeting is held. 
 
Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law 
including the law of defamation, the Human Rights Act, the Data Protection 
Act and the law on public order offences. 
 
Please also note the Public attendance Protocol on the Council’s Website 
 
https://www.oldham.gov.uk/homepage/1449/attending_council_meetings 
 

 MEMBERSHIP OF THE GOVERNANCE, STRATEGY AND RESOURCES 
SCRUTINY BOARD 

 Councillors Aslam, Azad, Chauhan, Cosgrove, Ibrahim, Kenyon, Lancaster, 
Marland, McLaren (Chair) and Rustidge (Vice-Chair) 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.oldham.gov.uk/homepage/1449/attending_council_meetings


 
 

 

Item No  

1   Apologies For Absence  

2   Urgent Business  

 Urgent business, if any, introduced by the Chair 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To Receive Declarations of Interest in any Contract or matter to be discussed at 
the meeting. 

4   Public Question Time  

 To receive Questions from the Public, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

5   Minutes of Previous Governance, Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board 
Meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 

 The Minutes of the Governance, Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board held on 
9th October 2025 are attached for approval. 

6   Performance Assurance Report - 2025/26 Q2 (Pages 9 - 56) 

 Report detailing the corporate performance indicators for the first and second 
quarters of 2025/26. 

7   Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment Programme 2025/26 Quarter 2 (Pages 
57 - 90) 

 To note the Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment Programme 2025/26 
Quarter 2. 

8   Complaints and Compliments Annual Reports 2024/25 and Policies  

 Report to follow. 

9   Work Programme (Pages 91 - 92) 

 To note the 2025/26 Scrutiny Board work programme. 

10   Key Decision Document (Pages 93 - 102) 

11   Rule 13 and 14  

 To consider any rule 13 or 14 decisions taken since the previous meeting. 



 

GOVERNANCE, STRATEGY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY BOARD 
09/10/2025 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillor McLaren (Chair)  
Councillors Arnott, Aslam, Azad, Cosgrove, Kenyon, Lancaster, 
Rustidge (Vice-Chair) and Shuttleworth (Substitute) 
 

 Also in Attendance: 
 Alex Bougatef Director of Legal 
 Fiona Greenway Finance Services 
 Jack Grennan Constitutional Services 
 Holly Harrison Deputy Cabinet Member for 

Resident Focus 
 Abdul Jabbar MBE Deputy Leader and Cabinet 

Member for Finance, Corporate 
Services and Sustainability 

 Shelley Kipling Chief Executive 
 Vickie Lambert Finance Services 
 Heather Moore Assistant Director of Governance 
 Leo Morgan Complaints Management Service 

OMBC 
 Lee Walsh Assistant Director of Finance 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Chauhan 
(Councillor Shuttleworth substituting), Councillor Ibrahim and 
Councillor Marland. 

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

There were no declarations of interest received. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

There were no questions received from members of the public. 

5   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS GOVERNANCE, STRATEGY AND 
RESOURCES SCRUTINY BOARD MEETING  

 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 30th July 
2025 be approved as a correct record. 

6   ESTABLISHING TASK AND FINISH GROUP FOR REVIEW 
OF FINANCIAL SUPPORT SERVICES (CUSTOMER 
EXPERIENCE)  

 

The Chair requested nominations for the task and finish group. 
 
The following members were put forward: Councillor McLaren, 
Councillor Arnott, Councillor Cosgrove and Councillor Rustidge.  
 
Members queried what the terms of reference for the group and 
it was noted that they would be agreed in the first meeting of the 
group. Members also questioned the number of members 
required for the task and finish group and whether members 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



 

outside of the committee could be put forward. The Chair noted 
that there was not a set number of members who could be on 
the group and that whilst members outside of the committee 
could be members of the group, members of the committee 
were being asked first. 
 
RESOLVED: That the following members be members of the 
task and finish group: Councillor McLaren, Councillor Arnott, 
Councillor Cosgrove and Councillor Rustidge. 

7   REVENUE MONITOR AND CAPITAL INVESTMENT 
PROGRAMME 2025/26  

 

Lee Walsh presented the report. It was highlighted that there 
were a lot of assumptions in the report due to it being quarter 1 
data. Planned mitigations were discussed, particularly around 
creating capacity on transformations.  
 
It was noted that there was £33.774m in earmarked and 
reserved grants, and that the adverse weather reserve was an 
estimate. It was noted that, regarding the Dedicated Schools 
Grant (DSG), Oldham was one of the few authorities still in 
surplus. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) was in surplus of 
£3.34m at the end of 2024/25. An update was provided on the 
Capital Investment programme. 
 
Members queried what practical actions would be undertaken to 
achieve the planned mitigations for Adult Social Care, and it was 
noted that the transformation team was looking at support 
packages and out of borough placements to see whether any 
could be brought back in borough, and that work was underway 
with the ICB to deliver those savings. 
 
Members also questioned whether there were any common 
themes for the amber and red parts of the approved budget 
reductions. It was noted that packages were being looked at, 
making sure that there was best value for money and that 
reviews of packages require staff to carry out complex reviews, 
which presents its own challenges. It was highlighted that Place 
was moving in the right direction, due to optimising rounds. 
Workforce pressures were noted as being due to significant 
changes in leadership and transformation of work forces which 
had led to delays in delivery. 
 
Members queried when fruition would be seen on back in 
borough placements. It was advised that Oldham Total Care had 
five vacant beds which the council was negotiating to get. 
 
Members queried why the DSG is a national issue and whether 
there was any good practice that could be being learned from. 
Members were advised that pretty much every local authority 
was in the same position, highlighting that Oldham was 
proactive when others weren’t, but that Oldham was catching 
up, due to demand catching up with the grant. 
 
Members noted that the budget in March 2025 planned to 
balance the budget without the use of reserves, and that £20m 

Page 4



 

was a lot of overspend at the first reporting point. It was noted 
that the red and amber savings were part of the £20m 
overspend forecast, not additional to it. It was also noted that 
there is a structural problem in local government finance in that 
if demand is higher, the council has to provide the services, as 
well as it being the right thing to do. It was noted that other 
authorities were in similar positions with similar issues. It was 
highlighted that the government spending review was expected 
to deliver more funding. The work of the finance delivery board, 
chaired by leadership, which had been set up was noted. 
 
Members highlighted the overspend in Table 2 of the report, 
noting the demand in statutory services had been a constant 
refrain over years, and questioned why the council couldn’t 
control these things. Members were advised that the 
transformation programme, particularly around changing 
services, the use of technology and grant monies would help 
alleviate some of the challenges, and that there were some 
success stories already in terms of savings. It was noted that the 
market in Children’s services was being exploited and that 
Oldham opening several children’s homes would help mitigate 
this. The work with Newtons around efficiencies and best 
practice was also highlighted. It was highlighted that there were 
challenging structural factors and that the new government 
recognised this need. It was noted that there was lots of work 
going on to find and keep variance reductions and that this was 
a day-by-day battle. Fair funding would help with this situation. It 
was highlighted that temporary accommodation was on budget, 
having previously been an enormous issue for the authority. 
 
Members queried whether additional purchase of bins in the 
environment service meant that the savings from Don’t Trash 
Oldham had been wiped out. It was advised that this was not the 
case and that the purchase of bins referred to domestic waste, 
and that some grants would help to alleviate the overspend. 
 
Members requested that members could receive the value of 
each mitigating action along with the officer responsibility for 
delivering those savings. It was advised that this information 
would go through the steering group and that work was being 
done on mitigations. It was noted that mitigations were around 
funding streams and reallocations, and that any service changes 
would go through Cabinet. 
 
Members noted the success on bins. 
 
Members queried the four applications for reserves usage and 
asked why they weren’t funded in the first place. It was advised 
that the reserves were crucial and that the new reserves policy 
has been kept. It was further noted that fluctuations had been 
funded historically from reserves. It was highlighted that some of 
the revenue grants were in effect, grants not spent and offset. 
 
Members queried why the surprise repairs and managements 
were an adverse variance. It was noted that the repairs were 
based on assets not disposed of yet, including delayed sales 

Page 5



 

and one offs, noting a security issue for example. It was also 
noted that there were market issues with selling at price, and 
this was reviewed regularly, noting the longer process to sell. 
Members queried when buildings are sold, where does the 
money go and it was advised that funds go into the capital 
receipts, not capital. 
 
Members asked whether the report could be changed to include 
a list of unactioned savings and a request for monthly delivery 
board meetings. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted and endorsed with thanks 
to officers. 

8   LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE 
OMBUDSMAN: ANNUAL REVIEW OF COMPLAINTS 
2024/25  

 

Leo Morgan presented the report. It was noted that the draft had 
been presented to the board in June, and it had now been 
published by the Ombudsman. 
 
It was noted that Oldham had seen a decrease in the number of 
complaints and that Oldham was performing significantly better 
than the national and regional average. It was highlighted that 
there was learning culture and that Oldham continues to 
prioritise early and effective resolution of complaints, and it was 
noted that the work is a positive story to tell. 
 
Members queried the broader complaints landscape, asking 
about the 86% of complaints that didn’t go to the Ombudsman 
and whether these were resolved or unresolved. It was noted 
that this would be part of an item coming to the next scrutiny 
board meeting. It was also highlighted that the service will 
always try to explain the outcome of a decision, but that 
datawise, at least, the service didn’t know why some chose not 
to go to the Ombudsman. 
 
Members queried one of the cases that was upheld, noting 
concern at the use of ‘threat’. It was explained that this was not 
the view of the council and that the ‘threat’ part of the decision 
was not substantiated. 
 
Members noted that most complaints were in certain areas, and 
queried what was being done around supporting vulnerable and 
excluded people. It was noted that there are advocates and 
support workers for vulnerable residents so that they didn’t have 
to try to go through the complex system alone. It was noted that 
this was done on a case by case basis for corporate issues, and 
that it would be assessed whether complainants would need 
support. 
 
Members queried what counted as a complaint, when issues are 
logged as complaints and whether there is a formal threshold. It 
was noted that in social care, it was a more black and white, 
statutory process. In Corporate, there were grey areas and it 
was more the case if people wanted to complain, although the 

Page 6



 

service tries to treat initial queries as service requests where 
they can. 
 
Members queried whether the Children’s Residential Home 
Complaints database would only include children in the home or 
neighbours as well. It was noted that the database would only 
include complaints from young people in the homes, but that 
neighbours could complain through the standard complaints 
mechanisms. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted and received with thanks. 

9   WORK PROGRAMME   

RESOLVED: That the Governance, Strategy and Resources 
Scrutiny Board’s Work Programme for 2025/26 be noted. 

10   KEY DECISION DOCUMENT   

The Scrutiny Board considered the Key Decision Document, 
which records key decisions that the authority is due to take. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Key Decision Document be noted. 

11   RULE 13 AND 14   

There were no Rule 13 or 14 decisions to report. 
 

The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 7.25 pm 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Report to Governance, Strategy & Resources 
Scrutiny Board 

Performance Assurance Report 2025/26 
Q1 (1st April to 30th June 2025) and Q2 (1st July to 
30th September 2025) 

Portfolio Holder (Performance): Cllr Arooj Shah, Leader & Cabinet Member 
for Growth 
 
Report Owner: Fiona Greenway, Executive Director 
 
Officer Contact: Steve Hughes, Assistant Director Strategy & 
Transformation  
 
Overview Report Author: Gail M. Stott, Performance Improvement Lead, Strategy & 
Performance 

 
PAR collated by: Performance Improvement Team and Data & Intelligence Service, 
Strategy & Performance 
 
Contact: StrategyandPerformance@oldham.gov.uk 

 
Date: 04.12.2025 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6

mailto:StrategyandPerformance@oldham.gov.uk


 

  2 

Reason for decision 

The Council’s Performance Management Framework (PMF) underpins how we measure 

progress and monitor the impact of the Corporate Plan objectives. It is aligned to our 

Medium-Term Financial Strategy, and the outcomes will increasingly become the focus for 

our budget, Directorate and Service Plans. 

The Framework provides measurable evidence of progress against objectives as part of a 

systematic process of robust corporate performance reporting to provide assurance that: 

 services are aligned to corporate priorities and the needs of our residents  

 our services are good, or are on track to good 

 any services that are not on track, or have identified risks, are being supported or 

challenged appropriately 

 any demand indicators or resource pressures are noted, and service provision is being 

re-assessed accordingly. 

 

Report summary:  

The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of directorate performance against 

agreed service plan measures and in the context of related reports and open (public) data.  

The intent is to support the scrutiny process through open and transparent discussion and 

challenge.  

The reporting format is being developed as various overarching frameworks (national, 

regional and local) and digital reporting and data storytelling options emerge. The aim is to 

achieve a level of consistency of reporting, however, there will be some nuances in how 

and when we implement the framework and reporting styles used in each of the four 

scrutiny boards. 

 

Recommendations 
Scrutiny Board members are asked to: 

 note the directorate outcomes identified  

 celebrate areas of good or improved performance  

 consider areas for review (good or poor) that would produce organisational learning.  

 

Contextual considerations include: 

 the interconnection between key projects and ongoing activities in other portfolio and 

Scrutiny Board areas  

 the Council’s performance reporting in the public domain – in particular the LG Inform 

App and Draft Local Government Outcomes Framework for Oldham 

 the importance of viewing performance in the context of our borough by utilising  
published district profiles and the Oldham JSNA. 

 

  

Page 10

https://beta.app.lginform.local.gov.uk/
https://beta.app.lginform.local.gov.uk/
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view/lga-research/draft-local-government-outcomes-framework-for-main-area-label?mod-area=E08000004&mod-group=AllMetropolitanBoroughLaInCountry_England&mod-type=namedComparisonGroup
https://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/200557/neighbourhoods
https://www.jsnaoldham.co.uk/profile/


 

  3 

1. Context 

1.1 Directorate service / business plans include a range of performance metrics to monitor 

progress in achieving the Corporate Plan objectives, statutory duties and putting our 

residents first. 

1.2 Ongoing monitoring is important because services can be impacted by a range of 

internal and external factors, including changes in demand, resources, legislation or 

policies. 

1.3  It is essential that performance is viewed in the context of our borough - the published 
district profiles and the Oldham JSNA provide more detail and these statistics and 
projections need to be considered when reviewing current and projected service levels 
and demands. 
 
1.4 Performance management systems that generate data are utilised at all levels; good 

governance processes support a transparent performance reporting cycle.  

 

1.5 As part of our performance management framework, each directorate has regular 

opportunities to review their performance at a service level and more holistically; and to 

raise issues or concerns or take necessary actions to improve or maintain it.  Data 

scrutinised at this level will be more detailed and focused on the service or function. 

 

1.6 The Performance Assurance Reports (PAR) enables key (high-level) data to be 

scrutinised to provide reassurance, whilst also allowing space for discussion. The format 

of these reports is evolving as the council navigates its digital journey. The aspiration is to 

offer a balance between data, insight and contextual narrative.   

 

1.7 A standardised ‘one size fits all’ approach to performance monitoring and reporting is 

not feasible across the range and complexity of services the council provides.  Some 

services produce data that is qualitative and readily benchmarked against milestones.  To 

remain relevant, they need to be set in an appropriate timeframe – for example education 

services data needs to be reported termly, as opposed to in financial year quarters. 

Similarly, some strategic programmes, such as public health initiatives, will only show 

meaningful results over several years. 

1.8 Many core services provide a supporting role so performance within their functions 

cannot be measured quantitively and success is identified by the performance of the 

services they support.  To avoid repetitive or inaccurate reporting for these services, 

performance reporting may only occur at the beginning and the close of the year when 

major milestones can be effectively and accurately reflected on.   

 

Appendices:  

 

Resources Directorate Data pack and narrative 

 

Page 11

https://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/200557/neighbourhoods
https://www.jsnaoldham.co.uk/profile/


This page is intentionally left blank



Performance Assurance Report: 
Resources Directorate
Quarter 1 – 1st April to 30th June and Quarter 2 – 1st July 2025 to 30th September 2025

Portfolio holder (Performance): Cllr Arooj Shah, Leader of the Council & Cabinet Member for Growth 
Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate Services & Sustainability: Cllr Jabbar 

Report owner: Fiona Greenway, Executive Director of Resources 

Contact officer: Steve Hughes, Assistant Director of Strategy & Transformation

Report to Governance, Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board: 4th December 2025

P
age 13



Directorate overview
The Council is split into four executive directorate areas: Place, Resources, 
Children & Young People and Health & Care. Resources is overseen by 
Fiona Greenway, Executive Director of Resources; services are 
managed by:

• Alex Bougatef, Director of Legal

• Lee Walsh, Director of Finance

• Matthew Gratton, Director of Digital 

• Eleanor Devlin, Assistant Director Workforce and Organisational Culture

• Fran Lautman, Assistant Director Customer Experience

• Mark Edmondson, Assistant Director Revenues & Benefits 

• Heather Moore, Assistant Director Governance

• John Miller, Head of Audit and Counter Fraud 

• Vacant, Head of Procurement

• Steve Hughes, Assistant Director of Strategy & Transformation - this service area 
sits within the Health & Care Directorate.

P
age 14



Quarter 2: Introduction from Fiona Greenway, 
Executive Director of Resources

The newly formed Resources Directorate brings together most of the enabling services with a focus on 
supporting our front-line delivery services, alongside corporate governance and assurance functions and 
support to elected members.

It is positive to see Resources Directorate has received 31 compliments in Q1 and Q2 – more 
compliments than complaints were received. We are working hard to address complaints performance 
and FOIs within the required timelines with clear plans in place.

We continue to work as a Directorate Management Team to reduce agency spend and redesign our 
services to ensure we are delivering what is needed by the Council and our residents. The Commercial 
and Procurement Service will be headed by an Interim Head from January 2026, and with a focus on 
redesigning the service and creating a permanent team as expediently as possible.

The Human Resources suite of metrics being reported for Q2 provides a clearer picture of the health and 
wellbeing of the services and will continue to be developed to inform our workforce strategy and 
workforce plans. We are also working to ensure a higher completion rate of Let's Talk conversations from 
January 2026.

P
age 15



Balanced scorecard metrics
Customer Experience | Workforce | Finance | Access to information

P
age 16



Customer Experience
Customer Support Metrics Oldham Council

Q1 Customer
Oldham Council

Q2 Customer
Resources 

Q1 Customer 
Resources  

Q2 Customer 

Number of calls 77,399 76,991 55,788​ 54,261

Numbers of calls answered 66,766 (86.26%) 66,080 (85.8%) 50,393 (90.3%)​ 48,966 (90.2%)

Average handling time 0:07:20 0:07:48 0:06:46​ 0:07:48

Average wait time 0:07:22 0:07:17 0:07:00​ 0:06:28

Post Call Customer Satisfaction Surveys 91.56% 91.95% 91.28% 90.9%

Complaints Metrics Oldham Council
Q1 Complaints

Oldham Council
Q2 Complaints

Resources  
Q1 Complaints

Resources  
Q2 Complaints

Received 133 168 12​ 16

Completed within Target 79 (59.8%) 81 (71.1%) 11 (90.9%​) 9 (81.8%)

Overdue (Open/Late) 19 12 0​ 2

Number of service requests N/A 337 N/A 134

Compliments Metrics Oldham Council
Q1 Compliments

Oldham Council
Q2 Compliments

Resources
Q1 Compliments

Resources
Q2 Compliments

Number of Compliments* 52 72 14 19

* Not all compliments can be logged by Directorate due to lack of information so individual directorate figures will not equal overall compliment figure

P
age 17



Workforce

Workforce Metric
Oldham 

Council Q1

Oldham 

Council Q2

Resources 

Directorate 

Q1

Resources 

Directorate 

Q2

Headcount* 2595 2618 419​ 430

Sickness Absence % 6.2% 5.04% 5.6%​ 4.9%

Turnover rolling 12 month % 12.9% 12.7% 16.4%​ 15.7%

Agency Spend Year to Date M4 £4,229,708​ 4.02m £927,938​ 0.85m

Appraisals/Let’s Talk N/A 75.9% N/A 66.8%

*Overall Headcount is measured on distinct posts, so removes numbers of people with multiple roles. Hence this 
number is lower than the sum of Directorate headcount

P
age 18



Access to information
Governance Metrics Target Oldham 

Council

Q1 Overall 

Oldham 

Council

Q2 Overall 

Resources 

Q1

Resources  

Q2

Number of Freedom of Information (FOI) requests 

received / 401 387 108​ 90

FOIs answered within statutory time period 
90% 362 (90%) 270 (70%) 99 (92%)​ 59 (66%)

Number of Subject Access Requests (SARs) 

received / 108 96 28​ 14

SARs answered within statutory time period
80% 40 (62.5%) 18 (37%) 17 (89%)​ 4 (67%)

Number of Requests for Disclosure received / 244 257 103​ 117

Number of Requests for Disclosure responded to 

within target time period 80% 217 (89%) 217 (84%) 94 (91%)​ 107 (91%)

P
age 19



Access to information

• Members of the public can request information from public 
authorities through the Freedom of Information Act or 
Environmental Information Regulations

• Requests should be responded to within 20 working days

• ICO requirement is a minimum of 90% completed to time

• Individuals also have the right to access their own personal 
information through a subject access request

• Responses should be provided within one calendar month, but 
this can be extended by two further months for complex cases

P
age 20



Finance
Strategic Financial Planning | Treasury Management Services | Agresso 

P
age 21



Introduction from the Director of Finance

The long-awaited Policy Statement on the Local Government Finance Settlement, released on 20th 

November, confirmed the Government’s intention to deliver a multi-year settlement in December; this will 

be the first multi-year settlement after seven consecutive years of one-year allocations. This will assist the 

Council with its financial planning over the Medium Term. 

 The Policy Statement also confirmed most of the intentions set out as part of the Fair Funding Review 

consultation completed over the summer, that funding is to be allocated to those areas of high need and 

low taxbase, just like Oldham. Full details of Local Authority allocations will be published as part of the 

Local Government Finance Settlement which is expected the week commencing 15th December 2025. 

The Finance Service continues to assess the impact for the Council with papers to be presented to 

Budget Council on 4th March 2026.

 The budget challenge for 2025/26 at the end of Quarter 2 is estimated to be £21.094m (£23.209m at the 

end of Month 5) which is a positive movement of £2.115m from the position previously reported. Early 

management actions around spending and recruitment that were implemented earlier in the financial year 

are contributing toward this favourable movement and it is expected that this will continue over the 

coming months. The current forecast position to year end should be mitigated as much as possible to 

protect the Council’s general revenue reserves and its overall financial resilience.

Lee Walsh

P
age 22



Revenues and Benefits 
Council Tax I Business Rates I Accounts Payable I Accounts Receivable I 
Housing Benefits I Welfare Rights  

P
age 23



Introduction from the Assistant Director of 
Revenues & Benefits
We continue to make good progress with the collection of Council Tax and Business Rates both in line 
with last year at the end of Quarter 2. Recovery of arrears brought forward in 2025/26 now stands at 
£2.8m for Council Tax. The Accounts Receivable/Payable team are also making good progress with the 
position at the end of Q2 showing 68.2% of current year debt collected and over 90% of invoices paid 
within 30 days.

The Benefits team continues to see high volumes of Universal Credit change in circumstances from 
DWP but have made progress to reduce the backlog that had arisen with claims for Council Tax 
Reduction. Progress has also been made with the time taken to process new claims for Housing 
Benefits. The Welfare Rights Service and Social Inclusion Teams continue to support our residents with a 
range of benefit take up campaigns planned in 2025/26.. 

We continue to work with colleagues in Adult Social Care to monitor progress with the improvement plan 
for the Financial Assessment team, and we are pleased to report that the backlog of cases is reducing. 
We are benchmarking our performance and processes with colleagues across Greater Manchester to 
identify efficiencies and best practice.

Work is progressing on completing a redesign/restructure of the service, with the intention to 
commence consultation shortly.

Mark Edmondson

P
age 24



Revenues and Benefits key metrics (target where set)

Average time taken to 

process New Claims - 

Council Tax Reduction

Q1: 35.82 days

52.36 days

Target: 20 days

12.25 days

Average time taken to 

process New Claims - 

Housing Benefits 

Target: 27 days

Q1: 7 days

7.29 days

Average time taken to 

process Change in 

Circumstances- Council 

Tax Reduction

Target: 20 Days

Q1: 16.45 Days

Average time taken to 

process Change in 

Circumstances - Housing 

Benefit

9.86 days

Q1: 6.96 days

Target: 27 days

P
age 25



Revenues and Benefits key metrics (target where set)

90.18%

% Valid invoices 

paid within 30 days 

Target: 94%

55.79%

In-year national non- 

domestic rates (NNDR) 

collected as a % of the 

total owed (Cumulative)

54.24%

In-year Council Tax 

collected as a % of the 

total owed (Cumulative)

Annual Target: 97.2% Annual Target: 94%

Q1: 95.3% Q1: 26.73% Q1: 28.19% 

P
age 26



Legal & Monitoring Officer
Family Legal Team | Litigation Team | Environmental Team | Corporate & 
Property Team

P
age 27



Introduction from the Director of Legal & 
Monitoring Officer
The demands upon the service remain high in all areas (children's social care, adult social care, 

property and corporate and environment / prosecution). The service is working on a redesign to 

address this and ensure we can continue to provide the front-line support required for our adult and 

children's social care directorates in particular, in as an efficient manner as possible that does not rely 

on locum support in the medium term.

We are developing a set of metrics that can be used to show the caseloads that the team are 

managing and the work that is done.

Elected Members standards continues to remain a difficult area.  A process is currently under way that 

involves additional internal support being utilised to help progress the process as efficiently as 

possible and satisfy the requirements while keeping all updated.

Alex Bougatef

P
age 28



Legal Services key metrics (target where set)

New metrics are under development – reporting from Quarter 
4 onwards these are initially going to focus on:

• Childcare legal proceedings within the 26 week statutory 
deadline

• Customer satisfaction both internal and external

• Response times, for example comments on reports, emails 
requests and general advice requests.

P
age 29



Digital
IT Operations | Cyber Security | Projects

P
age 30



Introduction from the Director of Digital

IT have resumed the deployment of the laptop refresh which now continues to deliver Microsoft 

Surface devices to staff. The Wi-Fi refresh continues across the Borough sites as does the migration 

of services into the Cloud. Activity in decommissioning the Civic Data Centre continues with the first 

service being migrated from the Civic into Spindles. IT work in preparing infrastructure required for the 

readiness of the JR Clynes completed along with IT infrastructure in the second Children’s home. 

Regarding the Waste application, the investigations continue to explore how the Bulky Waste 

collections will be processed with BARTEC. A new five-year IT and Digital Strategy and Data Strategy 

with a series of related policies are in production.

Matthew Gratton

P
age 31



IT (Operations) key metrics (target where set)

Breached Tickets

Min target: <75

Q1: 61

113

Customer 

Satisfaction

Min target: 80%

Q1: 98.81%

98.90%

First Contact 

Resolution rate 

(60 min)

Min target: 60%

Q1: 81.06%

84.32%

Service Level 

Agreement 

Compliance

Min target: 90%

Q1: 97.8%

96.58%

Contact Centre 

Telephone 

Availability

Min target: 97%

Q1: 100%

99.37%

P
age 32



IT (Operations) key metrics (target where set)

Business Critical 

Applications 

Available

Min target: 97%

Q1: 99.07%

98.95%

Business Critical 

Infrastructure

Min target: 97%

Q1: 99.23%

98.96%

LAN Availability – 

Civic Centre

Min target: 97%

Q1: 96.45%

99.39%

WAN Availability – 

Council Sites

Min target: 95%

Q1: 100%

99.75%

Remote 

Connection 

Availability

Min target: 97%

Q1: 99.81%

100%P
age 33



Governance
Constitutional Services | Elections and Land Charges | Information 
Governance I Member Services I  Civic Support  I  Executive Support

P
age 34



Introduction from the Assistant Director of
Governance

• *Please note that the data on the next slide related to Freedom 
of Information requests, Subject Access Requests and 
Requests For Disclosure within the Q2 reporting period are still 
within timescale, so the reported figures will be subject to 
change.

• Ongoing training is being offered to all staff in relation to 
handling requests

• Improved reporting of performance statistics to Directorates.

Heather Moore

P
age 35



Governance key metrics (target where 
set)
FOIs 

received

FOIs - % replied 
to on time

SAR received % SAR replied 
within statutory 

period

387 70%*

96

37%*

Q1: 401 Q1: 90% Q1 Received: 108

Validated: 64
Q1: 63% Q1: 244

No target 90% No target 80% No target

SAR Validated

49

Number of 
Requests for 

Disclosure 
received

Q1: 89%

80%

% Requests for 
Disclosure 

responded to 
within Target time

257 84%*

P
age 36



Workforce and Organisational 
Culture
HR Advisory | Recruitment | Payroll, Pensions & HR Transactional | Learning 
and Development | Apprenticeships | Workforce Wellbeing | Organisational 
Development and Design

P
age 37



Introduction from the Assistant Director of 
Workforce & Organisational Culture

The HR & OD service are developing a suite of metrics designed to test volumes and quality of work across 
the service. The Q2 information included is the first iteration of this. The ambition is for future reports to 
include more detailed information on critical and statutory indicators, such as Payroll and detailed 
Mandatory Training compliance.

The organisation had a significant increase in new starters in Q2 (157 compared to 85), and more starters 
than leavers overall. Headcount increased slightly between Q1 and Q2. A proportion of this has been driven 
by services (and therefore, people) transferring into the organisation.

The HR Advisory team continue to manage high numbers of Employee Relations cases, particularly 
sickness absence as we continue to strive to improve workforce availability. Sickness absence overall has 
reduced from 6.2% (Q1) to 5.04% (Q2) although may increase in Q3 due to seasonal trends.

A time to hire baseline was calculated in Q1 which was 78 days from an applicant applying to being 
processed as a new starter. This was much lower in Q2 (42 days) due to a high number of onboarding from 
agency to substantive contracts. Further analysis is underway to establish a common baseline and potential 
efficiencies for time to hire.

OMBC continue to utilise Apprenticeship Levy spend effectively, with no expired funds in Q2. 19 new 
Apprentices commenced (11 existing staff and 8 new) supporting organisational ambition to grow our own 
talent and increase skills & prosperity in the borough.

There is a concerning decrease in compliance with e-learning induction (37% in Q2 compared to 62.3% in 
Q1) , which in part links to teething problems with migration to a new e-learning platform. A face to face 
induction will launch in November 2025 which will replace the e-learning module, and compliance will be 
monitored against this.

                                                                         Eleanor Devlin

P
age 38



HR & OD key metrics (target where set)

Number of Vacancies 

advertised
Time to Hire Employee 

Relations Cases
Number of 

Leavers

Q1: 54

103

No Target

42 days 160 74

Q1:  217 Q1: 78 days Q1: 141

No Target No TargetNo Target

*Includes schools and 

academies

P
age 39



HR & OD key metrics (target where set)

Committed* 

Levy Spend 

*Spend over the duration of the 

apprenticeships learning 

programme

Number of new 

apprenticeships 
(current workforce)

Number of  new 

apprenticeships 
(new starters)

£307,364 11 8

Q1: £134,232 

No Target No Target No Target

Q1: 12 Q1: 4

% New starters 

completing 

induction

37%

No Target

Q1:  62.3% 

Number of 

New Starters

157

Q1: 85

No Target

P
age 40



Reflections from Cabinet Member, Cllr 
Jabbar MBE

We continue to meet the range of targets across my Finance, Corporate Services and Sustainability 
portfolio. To continue good performance, I focus my attention on areas of concern giving these 
additional focus to deliver the agreed targets. My priority will always be doing everything we can to 
best serve the people of Oldham.

Councillor Abdul Jabbar

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate Services and Sustainability

Councillor Abdul Jabbar MBE

P
age 41



Strategy and Transformation
Communications & Engagement | Data, Insight & intelligence | Strategy & 
Performance | Transformation

P
age 42



Introduction from the Assistant Director of 
Strategy & Transformation
Q2 shows continued progress across the Strategy & Transformation portfolio, with solid 
delivery across communications, strategy, data, and transformation.  Digital engagement 
has grown across all major channels, strengthening our reach and visibility with residents 
and partners. Strategic planning work has matured further, with clearer alignment between 
the Oldham Plan missions, council priorities and performance reporting. Our Data & Insight 
function continues to improve data quality, analytical capability and the consistency of our 
reporting, giving a more rounded and timely picture of organisational performance.

Transformation activity has also accelerated this quarter, with key programmes moving from 
scoping into design and delivery and stronger governance now embedded. The service is 
entering a period of leadership change, but the foundations built over the past year, better 
planning, clearer priorities, stronger engagement, and more disciplined programme 
management, mean the organisation is well placed for the next phase of its strategic and 
transformational journey.

Steve Hughes

P
age 43



Communications & Engagement key 
metrics (target where set)

Instagram followers 

(End of Quarter)

LinkedIn followers 

(End of Quarter)
Facebook followers 

(End of Quarter)

Residents’ 

Newsletter 

Subscribers (End of 

Quarter)

X followers 

(End of 

Quarter)

38,356

Q1:  36,964

No target

5826 11,990 8479 30,888

Q1: 5618

No target

Q1: 11,470

No target

Q1:  8513

No target

Q1: 30,947

No target

P
age 44



Web key metrics (target where set)

Website Session 

Traffic from 

Facebook

Website 

Session Traffic 

from Instagram

Website 

Session Traffic 

from LinkedIn

Website 

Session Traffic 

from X

4130 74 212 544

Q1: 4,739

No target No target No target No target

Q1: 87 Q1: 212 Q1:554  

P
age 45



Reflections from Cabinet Member, Cllr 
Shah
We’ve made strong progress on our ongoing communications 
improvement journey, which is strengthening how we share stories and 
updates, and helping to deliver real results that matter. Our digital 
engagement is climbing across every major channel, helping us 
connect more effectively with residents and partners.

These improvements aren’t just operational, they help us build trust, 
improve transparency, and make sure residents and partners feel 
informed and involved. Stronger alignment and better communication 
mean we can deliver on our shared goals more effectively and 
demonstrate the impact of our work.

Cllr Arooj Shah 

Leader and Cabinet Member for Growth

26 November 2025

P
age 46



Customer Experience
Blue Badges​ | Complaints and Compliments | Contact Centre​ | Customer 
Service Centre at Spindles ​| Household Support Fund ​| Local Welfare 
Provision​ | Registrars Service 

P
age 47



Introduction from the Assistant Director of 
Customer Experience
Contact Centre calls answered performance has been challenging in Quarter 2 with resourcing issues within the service 
due to sickness absence. Action has been taken to stabilise performance in Quarter 3. During August, the Contact Centre 
made outbound calls to 327 families as part of school readiness contact. 

Average wait time and customer satisfaction at the Customer Service Centre are consistent with Quarter 1. 

The average number of days to process a Blue Badge application has remained steady at 39 days. The average number 
of days to access an Independent Medical Assessment (IMA) increased in comparison to Q1. It is anticipated to reduce in 
Quarter 3. 

Complaints performance continue to improve significantly following a concerted effort and multiple support and 
interventions to improve timeliness and quality. Both Resources and Place complaints responded to with timescales 
achieved the 80% target maintaining this from Quarter 1. Childrens complaints performance has improved significantly 
from Quarter 1 by 40%. Adults performance has dipped slightly but is significantly improved from 2024-25. Overall 
Complaints performance has improved by 10% compared to Quarter 2 and is now 10% away from achieving the overall 
target. Compliments data has been included in performance reporting for the first time with Place (35) and Resources (19) 
receiving the most during Quarter 2.

Our continued strong performance within the Registrars service has been sustained with all measures set by the General 
Registrars Office performing at or above target. The service continues to be one of the highest performing in the North 
West.

Fran Lautman

P
age 48



Customer Support Centre key metrics (target 
where set)

Post Call Customer 

Satisfaction 

Surveys 

Customer Support 

Centre- Average 

Call Wait time (All 

Queues)

Target: <00:12:00

Calls Answered: 66,080

Calls Offered: 76,991
Calls Abandoned: 10,911

Target: 89%Target: 90%

Q1: 91.68% Q1: 86.26%  Q1: 00:07:22

91.95% 85.83% 00:07:17 95.52%

Call Quality 

Evaluation

Q1: 95.56%

No target

% Calls 

Answered

Av. Talk Time: 00:04:20

Av. Wrap Time: 00:03:28
Av. Handle Time: 00:07:48

P
age 49



Blue Badges & Customer Support Centre key 
metrics (target where set)

Blue Badge: Average 

number of days 

taken from 

Application to 

decision

Q1: 38 days 

Blue Badge: Average 

working days taken 

from referral for IMA 

to appointment

No target No target

Q1: 11 days

17 days 39 days

Q1: 00:10:09

00:09:43

Customer Service 

Centre - Average 

wait time (combined 

services)

No target

Customer Service 

Centre - Customer 

satisfaction

98.68%

Q1: 100%

No target

P
age 50



Complaints key metrics (target where set)

Resources 

responded within 

timescales

81.8%

Target: 80%

Q1: 90.9%

Children’s 

responded within 

timescales

Target: 75%

Q1: 25.6%

65.7%

Place responded 

within timescales

80.5%

Q1: 80.5%

Target: 80%

Overall responded 

within timescales

71.1%

Q1: 59.8%

Target: 80%

Adults responded 

within timescales

59.3%

Target: 75%

Q1: 66.7%

Received: 39

Closed (in time): 16

Closed (late): 5

Open (late): 6

Open (in time): 12

Received: 55

Closed (in time): 23  

Closed (late): 12

Open (late): 0

Open (in time): 20 

Received: 16

Closed (in time): 9 

Closed (late): 0

Open (late): 2

Open (in time): 5 

Received: 58

Closed (in time): 33 

Closed (late): 4

Open (late): 4

Open (in time): 17

Received: 168

Closed (in time): 81 

Closed (late): 21

Open (late): 12

Open (in time): 54 

P
age 51



Compliments key metrics (target where set)

Resources 

Compliments 

received

19

Children’s 

Compliments 

received

9

Place 

Compliments 

received

35

Overall 

Compliments 

received

72

Adults Compliments 

received

9

*Compliments have been introduced as a new key metric measure in Q2 to provide a more balanced view of resident 
feedback alongside complaints. 

P
age 52



Registration Services key metrics (target 
where set*)

% births 

registered within 

the statutory 

timescale of 42 
days from birth

98%

% notice 

appointment 
availability

100%

% deaths registered 

within 5 days of 

receipt of medical 

certificate from the 
medical examiner

98%

% still births 

registered within 
42 days

100%

% availability of 

appointments for 
births and deaths

100%

Target: 95%

Q1: 100%

% appointments 

seen within 10 

minutes of their 
appointment time

99%

Target: 95%

Q1: 100%

Target: 98%

Q1: 98%

Target: 95%

Q1: 97%

Target: 98%

Q1: 100%

Target: %

Q1: 99%

*All KPI's have targets assigned by the General Registrars Office and are statutory across all local authorities

P
age 53



Reflections from Cabinet Member, Cllr 
Shah
Resident Focus remains the priority of my administration, and I am particularly pleased with our ongoing 
complaints performance improvement. Tracking complaints performance is essential for improving 
services and building trust. Complaints provide valuable insight into where things aren’t working, helping 
us identify patterns and address issues quickly. By monitoring how effectively and promptly complaints 
are resolved, we can enhance the customer experience, ensure compliance with standards, and 
prevent problems from escalating. 

This approach not only strengthens transparency and accountability but also drives continuous 
improvement, ensuring resources are used efficiently and residents feel heard.

The Complaints Recovery Plan is having a positive impact with Children's complaints improving by over 
40% from Q1 to Q2. I am confident that our performance will continue to improve into Q3 as we work 
towards achieving overall target.

Registrars' performance continues to be strong with Oldham being one of the highest performing 
authorities in the North West. 

Moving into Q3, we are preparing for winter readiness including our vital Pension Credit Campaign 
making sure residents of pension age receive all the support they need this winter. 

Cllr Arooj Shah 

Leader and Cabinet Member for Growth

26th November 2025

P
age 54



P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Reason for Decision 
 
The report provides Governance, Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board with an update as 
at 30 September 2025 (Quarter 2) of the Council’s 2025/26 forecast revenue budget 
position, the financial forecast of the Dedicated Schools Grant and the Housing Revenue 
Account (at Annex 1) alongside the financial position of the capital programme together with 
the revised capital programme 2025/26 to 2029/30 (at Annex 2). 
 
Executive Summary 
 
Revenue Position 
 
The forecast adverse position for 2025/26 at the end of Quarter 2 is estimated to be 
£21.094m (£23.209m at the end of Month 5).  
 
The details within this revenue monitoring report for Quarter 2 follows on from the Month 5 
report previously presented and highlights any significant areas of concern which may not 
just impact on the current year, but also when preparing future budgets. A forecast adverse 
position based on the Quarter 2 revenue controllable budget is £21.094m which is a 
favourable movement of £2.115m from the position previously reported. 
 
The increasing need for support of the Council’s services from residents and businesses, 
the complexity of the support needed, and inflationary costs continue to put pressure on 
service budgets and is demonstrated by the forecast outturn position reported at the end of 
Quarter 2. These pressures, in the main driven by escalating costs in essential statutory 
services supporting the most vulnerable residents, reflects the broader challenges the 
Council and numerous Councils across the country are facing. This is particularly acute in 
statutory and heavily inspected services where there is little flexibility to mitigate rising costs, 
for example increasing pressures on social care budgets due to the support needs of 

Report to Governance, Strategy & Resources 
Scrutiny Board 
 

Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment 
Programme 2025/26 
Quarter 2 – September 2025 
 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Abdul Jabbar MBE, Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate Services and 
Sustainability  
 
Officer Contact: Lee Walsh, Director of Finance  

 
Report Author: Vickie Lambert, Finance Manager 
 
04 December 2025 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



 

  2 

vulnerable children and complexity in the needs of adult requiring support. There is also an 
increasing need to support children with Special Educational Needs (SEND) and whilst 
significant work has been done in the last 12 months, homelessness presentations and use 
of temporary accommodation is still of concern given the numbers accessing this service.  
 
Since the last report was presented to this meeting, the implementation of the agreed 
enhanced controls has started to have an impact on the forecast position resulting in the 
favourable movement between periods. As these controls are further embedded it is 
expected that the position will continue to improve. It is important that the organisation 
continues its work on mitigating and reducing the forecast revenue variance by the end of 
the financial year, limiting any unbudgeted use of reserves and protecting its financial 
resilience.  

 
Given, the in-year financial position of the Council, the level of reserves available and the 
budgetary gaps already within the MTFS, the upcoming Policy Statement and the outcome 
of the Local Government Finance Settlement for 2026/27 onwards will have a significant 
influence on the financial sustainability of the Council and the Council’s ability to set a 
balanced budget over the short term. The budget pressures the Council has faced in recent 
years cannot continue to be mitigated without significant action both to reduce projected 
spend in year and to reduce costs over the years to come. Further details of mitigations 
underway is included at Annex 1. 
 
Information on the forecast year end position of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), and 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) are also outlined in the report. 
 
Capital Position 
 

The report outlines the most up to date capital spending position for 2025/26 to 2029/30 for 
approved schemes. The revised Capital Programme budget for 2025/26 is £122.248m at 
the close of Quarter 2. Actual expenditure to 30 September 2025 was £25.973m (21.2% of 
the forecast outturn). 

 
Recommendations 
 

That Governance, Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board: 
 
1. Notes the contents of the report. 
2. Notes the forecast revenue position at the end of Quarter 2 at £21.094m with 

mitigations in place to reduce expenditure as detailed at Annex 1. 
3. Notes the forecast positions for the Dedicated Schools Grant and Housing Revenue 

Account. 
4. Notes the revised Capital Programme for 2025/26 including the proposed virements 

and notes the forecast for the financial years to 2029/30 as at the end of Quarter 2 
as outlined in Annex 2. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



 

  3 

Governance, Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board                   04 December 2025 
 

Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment Programme 2025/26 Quarter 2 – September 
2025 
 
1 Background  

 
1.1 The Authority’s 2025/26 revenue budget was approved by Council on 6 March 2025 

at a sum of £322.928m to be met by Government grants, Council Tax and Business 
Rates. This report sets out the updated revenue financial position at the end of 
Quarter 2.  

 
1.2 As the year progresses the monthly and outturn projections will reflect the evolving 

position of the impact of management actions put in place to mitigate in-year 
pressures, new developments and changes in the profile of planned expenditure and 
any additional grants that are announced from the Government.  

 
2 Current Position 

 
2.1 This revenue monitoring report for the period to the end of September 2025 highlights 

significant areas of concern which may not just impact on the current year, but also 
when preparing future budgets. A projected adverse position based on the Quarter 2 
controllable budget is £21.094m, which is a favourable movement of £2.115m from 
the position previously reported. Close financial management continues at all levels 
of the organisation with early actions having been undertaken by the Executive Team 
to mitigate this position and to ensure that there is minimal impact on setting the 
budget for 2026/27 and limit any unbudgeted use of general revenue reserves. 

 
2.2 The main areas of concern identified within this monitoring report are:  

 

• Adult Social Care with a forecast unfavourable position for the reporting 
period of £10.745m, 

• Children’s Services with an estimated adverse position of £5.308m; and 

• Place with a forecast adverse position of £5.578m. 
 

2.3 As detailed within the previous monitoring report presented to this meeting, enhanced 
spending controls across recruitment and expenditure were implemented by Senior 
Leaders as a response to the significant adverse variances that have been reported 
this financial year. The impacts of these actions to date are included within this 
revenue forecast position and have had a positive impact on the adverse variance 
reported. The Council must continue its efforts to reduce the forecast variance by the 
year end to mitigate any potential impact on the 2026/27 budget. 
 

2.4 The Local Government Act 1988 specifies that a Local Authority must set and 
maintain a balanced budget. Failure to do so results in the Council’s Section 151 
officer having to issue a Section 114 notice to indicate that a Council’s forecast 
income is insufficient to meet its forecast expenditure for that year. 
 

2.5 Where Local Authorities are unable to finance their day to day to expenditure and 
before a Council issues a Section 114 notice, Government can provide temporary 
assistance by way of Exceptional Financial Support (EFS). EFS is temporary financial 
assistance provided by the government to Councils that are facing severe financial 
difficulties.  

Page 59



 

  4 

2.6 The Council eagerly awaits the Policy Statement from Government on the Settlement 
and the full Settlement itself which is due by the end of the calendar year. Meanwhile, 
the Council is undertaking an assessment of the likely gap based on current and 
projected demand and costs in order to determine any possible requirement for 
support.  

 

2.7 The in-year deficit forecast position for the Dedicated Schools Grant at the end of 
Quarter 2 is £10.048m, which is an adverse movement of £1.414m compared to the 
position reported at Quarter 1. This would reduce to an overall deficit by the close of 
the financial year of £8.886m after the application of the DSG surplus at £1.182m 
held within usable reserves. Details of this position are included within the report. 

 
2.8 The Housing Revenue Account forecast shows a projected drawdown from the HRA 

reserve at the financial year end of £0.477m, with further details included in Annex 1. 
 

2.9 The original Capital Programme for 2025/26 totalled £108.501m. The revised capital 
programme as at Quarter 2 taking into account any approved carry forwards, 
approved new funding, new schemes and variations and proposed variations/ re-
phasing gives projected revised expenditure of £122.248m. Actual expenditure at the 
end of Quarter 2 was £25.973m (21.2% of the forecast outturn). Further details of 
expenditure and schemes within the capital programme can be found in Annex 2. 

 
2.10 The Annual Review of the capital programme will be undertaken during this financial 

year. This is likely to lead to further reprofiling of planned expenditure and the 
realignment of capital resources between schemes. Its findings and 
recommendations will be detailed within a future report. 

 
3 Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1 The options that Scrutiny Board might consider in relation to the contents of this 

report are; 
 

a) agree the recommendations  

b) to not agree the recommendations and propose alternative forecasts 

 
4 Preferred Option 
 
4.1 The preferred option is that the Committee considers the forecasts and changes 

within this report; option (a) at 3.1. 
 
5 Consultation 
 
5.1 Consultation with the services within the Council and the Director of Finance. 
 
6 Financial Implications 
 
6.1 The full financial implications are detailed in the report. 
 
7 Legal Services Comments 
 
7.1 There are no legal issues at this time. 
 
 

Page 60



 

  5 

 
8 Co-operative Agenda 
 
8.1 Improving the quality and timeliness of the financial information available to citizens 

of Oldham supports the co-operative ethos of the Council.   
 
8.2 The revenue budget and capital strategy/ programme have been prepared so that 

they embrace the Council’s co-operative agenda with resources being directed 
towards projects that enhance the aims, objectives and co-operative ethos of the 
Council.  Ongoing budget monitoring is key to ensuring this objective is met. 

 
9 Human Resources Comments 
 
9.1 There are no Human Resource implications. 
 
10 Risk Assessments 
 
10.1 The risk is that the proposed management actions are not achieved in full. Should 

this be the case then alternatives will be sought and implemented. 
 
11 IT Implications 
 
11.1 There are no IT implications. 
 
12 Property Implications 
 
12.1 There are no Property implications. 
 
13 Procurement Implications 
 
13.1 There are no Procurement implications. 
 
14 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
14.1 There are no Environmental and Health and Safety implications. 
 
15 Equality, Community Cohesion and Crime Implications 
 
15.1 There are no Equality, Community Cohesion and Crime implications. 
 
16  Implications for Children and Young People  
 
16.1  There are no direct implications for Children and Young People  
 
17 Equality Impact Assessment Completed 
 
17.1 An equality impact assessment has been included at Annex 3. 
 
18 Key Decision  
 
18.1 Yes  
 
 

Page 61



 

  6 

 
19 Key Decision Reference 
  
19.1 FCR-10-25 
 
20 Background Papers 

 
20.1 The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government Act 
1972.  It does not include documents which would disclose exempt or confidential 
information as defined by the Act:  
 
File Ref:  Revenue Background Papers are contained in Annex 1 including, 
  Appendices 1 
Officer Name:  Lee Walsh and Vickie Lambert 
Contact:  lee.walsh@oldham.gov.uk / Vickie.lambert@oldham.gov.uk 
 
File Ref:  Capital Background Papers are contained in Annex 2 including 

Appendices A to I 
 
Officer Name:  James Postle  
Contact No:  james.postle@oldham.gov.uk  
 

21 Appendices  
 

Annex 1 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report 2025/26 Quarter 2 - 
September 2025 

 
Appendix 1  2025/26 Directorate Summary Financial Positions at 30 September 

2025 
 
Annex 2 Capital Investment Programme Report 2025/26 Month 6 – 

September 2025 
 
Appendix A  SUMMARY – Month 6 - Community Health & Adult Social Care 
Appendix B  SUMMARY – Month 6 - Children’s Services 
Appendix C  SUMMARY – Month 6 - Communities  
Appendix D  SUMMARY – Month 6 – Heritage, Libraries & Arts 
Appendix E  SUMMARY – Month 6 - Place 
Appendix F  SUMMARY – Month 6 – Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Appendix G  SUMMARY – Month 6 – Resources / Information Technology  
Appendix H  SUMMARY – Month 6 – Capital, Treasury and Technical 

Accounting 
Appendix I SUMMARY – Month 6 – Funding for Emerging Priorities 
 
Annex 3      Equality Impact Assessment- Financial Monitoring 25-26 (Qtr 2)  
 

 

Page 62

mailto:lee.walsh@oldham.gov.uk
mailto:james.postle@oldham.gov.uk


[Document title] 

 

1 

 

           ANNEX 1 

        REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2025/26            

     Quarter 2 – September 2025 
 

1   Background 
 

1.1 The Authority’s 2025/26 revenue budget was approved by Council on 6 March 2025 at a 
sum of £322.928m to be met by Government grants, Council Tax and Business Rates. 
This report sets out the updated revenue financial position at the end of Quarter 2.  
 

1.2 Under established budget procedures all services are required to monitor and review their 
approved budgets during the financial year. As part of this process, a forecast of the year-
end position has been prepared by all services. The services forecasts include all known 
commitments, issues, and any planned management actions required.  

 
2 Current Position 

 

2.1 The current net controllable revenue budget of £324.012m which is a £1.084m movement 
from the previously reported period (£322.928m). This change is due to the receipt of 
additional unringfenced Government Grants as detailed in the table below: 

 

Movement in Funding £000 

Family Hubs and Start for Life Programme (691) 

Individual Placement and Support Grant (155) 

Leaving Care Allowance Grant (39) 

Rough Sleeping Grants (168) 

Public Health Grant - uplift (31) 

Net Movement in Funding (1,084) 

 
2.2 The details within this revenue monitoring report for Quarter 2 follows on from the Month 5 

report previously presented and highlights any significant areas of concern which may not 
just impact on the current year, but also when preparing future budgets. The Quarter 2 
forecast position shows a favourable movement of £2.115m from the position previously 
reported result is an estimated adverse position of £21.094m. A projected outturn position 
at this level demonstrates that the close financial management that has been undertaken 
thus far is to be continued throughout 2025/26 considering the budget gap in the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy for 2026/27 and 2027/28 and the limited Earmarked Reserves 
available. 

 
2.3 As detailed within the previous monitoring report presented to this meeting, enhanced 

spending controls across recruitment and expenditure were implemented by Senior 
Leaders as a response to the significant adverse variances that have been reported this 
financial year. The impacts of these actions to date are included within this revenue 
forecast position and have had a positive impact on the adverse variance.  

 

Page 63



[Document title] 

 

2 

 

2.4 The effectiveness of these management actions will continue to be closely monitored by 
the Executive Team throughout the financial year. As the forecast adverse position at the 
end of Quarter 2 remains at a significant level, further management actions will continue 
to be explored to mitigate the pressures being reported if this position does not improve 
further. Any further management actions implemented will be reported to Members through 
the regular financial monitoring reports submitted to Cabinet during the remainder of this 
financial year. 

  
2.5 The Local Government Act 1988 specifies that a Local Authority must set and maintain a 

balanced budget. Failure to do so results in the Council’s Section 151 officer having to 
issue a Section 114 notice to indicate that a Council’s forecast income is insufficient to 
meet its forecast expenditure for that year. 

 
2.6 Where Local Authorities are unable to finance their day to day to expenditure and before a 

Council issues a Section 114 notice, Government can provide temporary assistance by 
way of Exceptional Financial Support (EFS). EFS is temporary financial assistance 
provided by the government to Councils that are facing severe financial difficulties. This 
support, which is not additional revenue funding provided by Government, is typically used 
to help a Council meet its financial obligations, continue to deliver essential services and 
avoid the need to issue a ‘Section 114’. 

 
2.7 As mentioned in the Month 5 report, in recent years there has been an increase in the 

number of Councils being awarded EFS. EFS is a temporary assistance mechanism and 
does have ongoing implications, including enhanced monitoring requirements for Councils 
and should only be entered into when absolutely necessary. The Council is not yet making 
an application for EFS and awaits the Policy Statement on the settlement from the 
Government and the final Settlement itself, before exploring support available to Local 
Authorities. 

 
2.8 At the time of writing, the publication of the Policy Statement for the Local Government 

Finance Settlement 2026/27, which will include the outcomes of the Fair Funding Review 
2.0 Consultation, has been moved onwards and is now expected to be delivered at the end 
of November and potentially after “budget week” which is 24-28 November, with the actual 
Settlement expected week commencing 15 December. 

 
2.9 The forecast revenue position at the end of Quarter 2 is detailed in the table below. 

Demand for Council services with increased complexity of need continues to have an 
impact on the projected position despite the work previously undertaken across the 
organisation to mitigate. Officers are continuing to seek out and implement additional 
actions wherever possible to reduce this gap further with service mitigations detailed within 
this report. These mitigations will be monitored regularly with an expectation that this work 
will continue to reduce the overall revenue adverse position for this financial year. Non-
delivery of these mitigations would have an impact on the budget gap for the 2026/27 
financial year and the level of general revenue Earmarked Reserves and therefore the 
overall financial resilience of the Council and should be avoided. 

 
 
 

Page 64

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/what-happens-if-a-council-goes-bankrupt/


[Document title] 

 

3 

 

Table 1 – Summary of Quarter 2 Forecast Revenue Budget Position 
 

  

Annual 
Budget 

Annual 
Forecast  

Annual 
Variance 

reported at 
Quarter 2 

Annual 
Variance 

reported at 
Month 5 

Change in 
Variance 
between 
periods 

Directorate £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Adult Social Care         82,691          93,436         10,745         12,191          (1,446)  

Children's Services        86,189          91,498            5,308            5,266                 43  

Public Health         23,703          23,534             (169)             (228)                59  

Place        73,286         78,865            5,578            5,921             (343)  

Resources         33,457         33,087             (370)                 59             (429)  

Capital, Treasury and Technical 
Accounting 

       24,686         24,686                   -                     -                     -    

NET EXPENDITURE      324,012       345,106         21,094         23,209         (2,115)  

Financed By:           

Locally Generated Income     (181,158)     (181,158)                   -                     -                      -    

Government Grants     (143,884)      (143,884)                   -                     -                      -    

Collection Fund Deficit           1,030            1,030                   -                     -                     -    

TOTAL FINANCING     (324,012)      (324,012)                   -                     -                      -    

OVERALL PROJECTED VARIANCE                  -            21,094         21,094          23,209          (2,115)  

 

Significant revenue variances by Directorate 
 
Table 2 – Summary of Quarter 2 Revenue budget variance analysis 
 

2.10 There are significant variances contained within the projected net adverse position and a 
breakdown of these across type of variance is shown below. 

 

  

Non-Delivery 
of Savings 

(Red & 
Amber) 

Expenditure 
Variance 

Income 
Variance 

Annual 
Variance 

reported at 
Quarter 2 

Directorate £000 £000 £000 £000 

Adult Social Care             3,107              6,900                738            10,745  

Children's Services             3,075              2,771              (538)              5,308  

Public Health                  -                (150)                (19)              (169)  

Place               385              2,090              3,103              5,578  

Resources               101              4,229           (4,700)              (370)  

NET EXPENDITURE             6,668            15,840           (1,414)            21,094  

 
 

 

Page 65



[Document title] 

 

4 

 

2.11 As reported over the last two financial years, there are three areas which continue to 
forecast significant pressures;  
 

• Adult Social Care is reporting a pressure of £10.745m at the end of Quarter 2 
(£12.191m at the end of Month 5). 

• Children’s Services is reporting a pressure at the end of Quarter 2 at £5.308m 
(£5.266m at the end of Month 5). 

• Place is reporting a pressure of £5.578m at the end of Quarter 2 (£5.921m at the end 
of Month 5). 
 

2.12 Approved at Budget Council in March 2025, significant growth was added to the revenue 
base budget at £43.185m of which Adult Social Care was allocated £15.264m (35%) and 
Children’s Services was allocated £16.831m (39%). At the same Council meeting budget 
savings were approved across all Directorates. When these savings are applied, the 
overall net increase was £6.776m for Adult Social Care and £13.170m for Children’s 
Services.   

 
 Adult Social Care adverse variance at the end of Quarter 2 at £10.745m (Month 5 at 
£12.191m) 

 
2.13 As shown at Table 2, the forecast adverse position for this directorate can be broken down 

as follows: 
 

• Non- Delivery of Budget Reductions (Red and Amber)  £3.107m 

• Expenditure Variance      £6.900m 

• Income Variance       £0.738m 
 

Further details for the expenditure and income variances are included in the following 
paragraphs, with details on budget reductions included at Section 3. 
 

2.14 The Community Health and Adult Social Care service is reporting significant pressures 
forecast to be £5.326m at the end of this reporting period (£5.307m at the end of Month 5). 
These pressures predominantly relate to clients with physical disabilities accessing care at 
home (£2.346m), short stays following a hospital stay (£0.804m), costs for supported living 
placements (£0.668m), clients with nursing placements (£0.471m), clients with residential 
placements (£0.729m) and under-recovery of contributions (£0.069m). 
 

2.15 The Learning Disability service is reporting an unfavourable a year end forecast of £3.213m 
at the end of Quarter 2 (£3.531m at the end of Month 5). The largest contributing areas to 
this estimated position are Care at Home which is an adverse position of £1.393m with 
£1.503m for Supported Living. There is a pressure against the available budget for 
residential care at £0.529m and direct payments at £0.111m with other smaller variances 
across this divisional area. 

 
2.16 The Mental Health service is reporting an estimated adverse position of £1.677m by the 

end of the financial year as reported in month 6 compared to 1.095m at the close of Month 
5. The costs for Supported Living being the largest contributing factor to this position which 
is estimated to be £1.453m. There are other smaller variances for nursing and short stay 

Page 66



[Document title] 

 

5 

 

placements which drive the overall position and which are being offset by favourable 
variances due to vacant posts and additional income across this service area. 

 
2.17 While activity levels across the Directorate have remained broadly consistent with the 

previous year, costs continue to rise. This is driven by: 
 

• Increasing complexity of care packages 

• Constrained availability within the care market 

• A growing number of double-cover care packages, particularly for those supporting 
hospital discharges 

 
2.18 These trends indicate a higher level of acuity among individuals requiring care. 

 
Adult Social Care – Planned Mitigations 
 

2.19 There are planned mitigations that are in the process of being developed and / or 
embedded to reduce the forecast adverse position for this directorate. A summary of these 
are as follows: 
 

• Client Finance project focusing on clearing backlogs, timely assessments and 
improved income recovery. 

• Optimise Oldham Total Care and MioCare provision by utilising internal bed base to 
repatriate clients back to the borough. 

• Review of short stay provision to ensure timely assessments are completed for 
people discharged from hospital and to reduce those in temporary care placements 
for extended periods of time. 

• The Transitions Hub is now in place and actively working with young adults. 
Additionally, an ASC based Transitions team has been created. 

• Develop an Assistive Technology offer to support care provision and enhance 
digitalisation. 

• Review the provision for Learning Disability & Mental Health placements including 
future proofing through the capacity and demand work programme. 

• Engagement of additional temporary resource to clear significant assessment 
backlog with expected benefits to be realised from Quarter 3. 
 

2.20 Work continues to implement planned mitigations, and it is expected that these will have a 
positive impact on the adverse variance with the expected unfavourable position to be 
reduced by the end of Quarter 3. The pace of implementation needs to be continued to 
ensure this position can be mitigated as much as possible by the end of the financial year. 
It should be noted that the complexity of need for clients accessing this statutory service 
remains high and whilst the directorate is working hard to reduce this adverse variance, 
other factors such as demand and need could impact future forecasts. 

 
Children’s Services adverse variance at the end of Quarter 2 at £5.308m (£5.266m at 
the end of August 2025) 
 

2.21 The forecast unfavourable position for this directorate area as at the end of September 
2025 can be broken down as follows: 

Page 67



[Document title] 

 

6 

 

 

• Non- Delivery of Budget Reductions (Red and Amber)  £3.075m 

• Expenditure Variance      £2.771m 

• Income Variance       (£0.538m) 
 

Further details for the expenditure and income variances are included in the following 
paragraphs, with details on budget reductions included later within this report. 
 

2.22 Children’s Services are reporting a £5.308m forecast adverse variance for the financial 
year as at the end of September 2025 of which £3.075m is due to the non-delivery of 
budget reductions, namely the Children’s Investment Plan (£2.852m).  
 

2.23 The remaining pressure is mainly due to additional costs for Children with Disabilities 
short breaks, additional legal costs and the loss of Continuing Health Care (CHC) income 
due to the change in cohort and those children who are eligible for this funding. Pressures 
are being mitigated by slippage on vacant posts across the division. 
 
Children’s Services – Planned Mitigations 
 

2.24 There are planned mitigations that are in the process of being developed and / or 
embedded to reduce the forecast unfavourable position for this directorate. A summary of 
these are as follows: 
 

• Continued work on reducing agency staffing engagements 

• Continued review of placements particularly for those that are high cost 

• Placements review for the Children with Disabilities service 

• Service review of legal fee commitments 

• Review of School insurance contract to mitigate emerging issue 

• Looking at areas where income can be maximised wherever possible 

• Progression of charging policy 

• Reviewing operating model for the Music Service  
 
Public Health favourable variance of (£0.169m) as at the end of Quarter 2 ((£0.228m) 
at the end of Month 5)  
 

2.25 Public Health is projecting a favourable position by the financial year end of £0.169m. This 
position is due to vacancies held across Public Health and Leisure services. 
 
Place Directorate is reporting adverse variance by year end of £5.578m (£5.921m at 
the end of Month 5) as at the end of September 2025  
 

2.26 The forecast unfavourable position for this directorate area as at the end of Quarter 2 can 
be broken down as follows: 

 

• Non- Delivery of Budget Reductions (Red and Amber)  £0.385m 

• Expenditure Variance      £2.090m 

• Income Variance       £3.103m 

Page 68



[Document title] 

 

7 

 

Further details for the expenditure and income variances are included in the following 
paragraphs, with details on budget reductions included later within this report. 
 
Environment  
 

2.27 The Environment service area is forecast to be in an adverse position of £2.274m (£2.304m 
as reported at the end of Month 5) by the financial year end. Expenditure pressures across 
the division for staffing costs including agency and additional fleet costs are being forecast 
in this area. There are also several income targets not expected to be achieved across 
each area particularly security and response services which are driving this forecast 
adverse position, with academisation of schools having an impact on income generation. 
Favourable variances in other areas such as parking, street lighting, environmental health 
and traffic management are offsetting these main pressures 
 
Growth  
 

2.28 The Growth Division is reporting a £3.575m projected adverse variance by the financial 
year end. This pressure relates to the much-reduced rent agreements currently being 
sought by both prospective and sitting tenants. An increased Council footprint and voids 
within the Spindles Shopping Centre has also led to increased service charge payable and 
foregone rent. Running costs and Repairs and Maintenance costs for the Council’s 
property portfolio are having the largest impact with costs being incurred for assets within 
the Council’s disposal programme where there has been a delay in sale or a change to the 
future of the asset. There are pressures within the Building Control service due to income 
generated being lower than that budgeted, alongside additional costs for staffing due to 
the use of agency workers to cover vacant posts.  
 

2.29 Favourable variances in other areas such as Development Control and Housing Delivery 
are dampening the pressures noted above. 
 
Communities 
 

2.30 The Communities division is forecasting a favourable position by the end of the financial 
year of (£0.271m). Housing Needs is currently forecast to underspend by £0.126m which 
is reflective of falling placements in temporary accommodation coupled with the sourcing 
of cheaper accommodation provision. It should be noted that this area is particularly volatile 
and a small increase in the number of placements could lead to a significant rise in current 
forecasts. 
 
Place - Planned Mitigations 
 

2.31 There are planned mitigations that are in the process of being developed and / or 
embedded to reduce the forecast adverse position for this directorate. A summary of these 
are as follows: 
 

• Review in train of the fleet replacement timelines and issues with equipment not 
lasting within the expected timeframe 

Page 69



[Document title] 

 

8 

 

• Continued transfer of agency workers from off contract engagements to on contract 
provider / permanent or fixed term recruitment 

• Reports being progressed around asset transfers to reduce maintenance costs and 
generate rental income 

• Maximisation of income streams wherever possible including grant income and 
attracting external income i.e. for events, new trade customers 

• Minimise the gap between an assets useful economic life and its replacement to 
reduce / remove additional hire costs 

 
Resources forecast favourable variance at the end of Quarter 2 of (£0.317m) (£0.059m 
adverse variance previously reported) 
 

2.32 The forecast favourable position for this directorate area as at the end of September 2025 
can be broken down as follows: 
 

• Non- Delivery of Budget Reductions (Red and Amber)  £0.101m 

• Expenditure Variance      £4.229m 

• Income Variance       (£4.701m) 
 

Further details for the expenditure and income variances are included in the following 
paragraphs, with details on budget reductions included at Section 3. 
 

2.33 The key driver for this forecast favourable position is due to slippage on vacant posts across 
the directorate as a whole but particularly in Transformation and Reform, Finance, HR 
services and Commissioning & Procurement. These favourable positions are offsetting the 
pressure in legal services of £0.690m due to the use of agency workers to cover vacant 
posts. 
 
Resources – Planned Mitigations 
 

2.34 Whilst the directorate is forecast to end the financial year with a favourable financial 
position, there are planned mitigations that are in the process of being developed and / or 
embedded to address any individual service area’s adverse position during this financial 
year which would increase the favourable variance further. A summary of these are as 
follows: 
 

• Continued transfer of agency workers from off contract engagements to on contract 
provider / permanent or fixed term recruitment 

• Review of webcast services for Council meetings  

• Review of all ICT Licences, software contracts and ways of working for the 
organisation 

 
Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting – no variance  
 

2.35 The Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting directorate holds the budgets associated 
with the Council’s Treasury Management activities including interest payable on borrowing 
and interest receivable on investments and is reporting no variance as at the end of 
September 2025. 

Page 70



[Document title] 

 

9 

 

  
2.36 A detailed revenue table is attached at Appendix 1.  

 
3 Progress on the delivery of the 2025/26 Approved Budget Savings 
 
3.1 Table 3 below presents the progress on the delivery of the 2025/26 approved Budget 

savings which has been updated to reflect the position at the end of Quarter 2. For savings 
rated as Red and Amber, work is ongoing to achieve the saving or alternative delivery and 
in year mitigations are being identified to cover any potential shortfalls which may occur. It 
is imperative that all 2025/26 approved budget savings must be delivered given the limited 
Earmarked Reserves availability.   
 

3.2 In terms of savings, £19.916m (£19.163m at Month 5) of the £26.584m approved budget 
reduction targets are either delivered or on track to be delivered (Green) representing 75% 
of the total savings target. 8% are off track but with targeted work could be achieved 
(Amber) and a further 17% or £4.637m (£5.206m at Month 5) with a high risk of not being 
achieved within this financial year (Red). The table below summarises the progress by 
Directorate: 

 
Table 3 – Summary on progress on delivery of 2025/26 Approved Budget Reductions 
 

2025/26 Impact of Approved Budget 
Reductions 

Green 
£000 

Amber  
£000 

Red  
£000 

Total  
£000 

Adult Social Care (5,381) (1,879) (1,228) (8,488) 

Children's Services (3,438) (72) (151) (3,661) 

Place  (3,728) (29) (356) (4,113) 

Public Health  (465) 0 0 (465) 

Resources (4,293) (51) (50) (4,394) 

Capital, Treasury & Technical Accounting (4) 0 0 (4) 

TOTAL (17,309) (2,031) (1,785) (21,125) 

Children's Investment Plan (2,607) 0 (2,852) (5,459) 

TOTAL (19,916) (2,031) (4,637) (26,584) 
     

Mth 5 Position  (19,163) (2,215) (5,206) (26,584) 

 
Significant Budget reduction variances by Directorate  
 
Adult Social Care 
 

3.3 Of the £8.488m of budget savings approved for the Adult Social Care Directorate, £1.228m 
of them are rated Red and off track. Three budget savings drive this variance as follows: 
 

• Achieving Better Outcomes £0.583m 

• Adults, Health & Wellbeing £0.145m 

• Focused Transitions Team £0.500m 
 
 
 

Page 71



[Document title] 

 

10 

 

Children’s Services 
 

3.4 As detailed in Table 3, £3.003m (£3.058m at Month 5) of Children’s Services budget 
reductions are rated Red with 95% relating to the Children’s Investment Plan. The non-
delivery of the Children’s Investment Plan is predominately due to pressures around the 
reduction of high-cost placements and release of agency staff. The other Red rated savings 
are as follows: 
 

• Social Work Services £0.137m 

• Gemini House income £0.014m 
 

Place  
 

3.5 For this Directorate, 9% of the total approved budget reductions for this area are rated Red 
and relates to Environment - Service Review / Income Generation at £0.356m. 
 
Resources 
 

3.6 There is one approved budget reduction for 2025/26 rated as off track and this is the 
centralisation of Business Intelligence functions at £0.050m. 

 
Mitigations / Planned Actions for non-delivery of budget reductions 

 
3.7 The Financial Sustainability Delivery Board (FSDB) chaired by the Leader of the Council 

was established to provide additional scrutiny and challenge to the organisation around the 
non-delivery of agreed savings and this meets periodically to review the current and 
forecast delivery of agreed budget reductions. Any slip against timelines is explored and 
challenged with a requirement for actions to be brought back on track to ensure the delivery 
of the saving. 
 

3.8 All approved budget reductions must be delivered in full by the end of the financial year to 
ensure there is no further impact on the Council’s financial resilience.  
 

4 Mitigation of Current forecast Budget Position 
 

4.1 Throughout this report, corporate and service mitigations have been detailed with the aim 
of reducing the forecast adverse variance from the position reported, with enhancement of 
these controls implemented as an early action by the Executive Team to bring down the 
forecast position. Whilst the position at the end of Quarter 2 has improved since the position 
previously reported, work to mitigate this position must be continued at pace to ensure that 
this is reduced as much as possible by the end of the financial year.  
 

4.2 As the financial year progresses and dependent of the revenue position as the mitigations 
implemented embed, further management actions may be required as a matter of urgency. 
Services continue to review their ways of working, their structures and costs to reduce 
spend wherever possible to deliver additional savings during this financial year. 
 

Page 72



[Document title] 

 

11 

 

4.3 The effectiveness of all management and corporate actions will continue to be closely 
monitored by the Executive Team. Current indications are that the overall adverse variance 
will continue to be reduced. Further updates will continue to be included within future 
monitoring reports presented to this meeting.   
 

5 Reserves and Balances 
 

5.1 On 1 April 2025, general reserves totalled £33.774m, split between Earmarked Reserves 
of £31.564m and Revenue Grant Reserves of £2.210m. The General Fund Balance stood 
at £18.865m.  
 

5.2 Reserves and Balances are a key element of the Council’s financial resilience and it is 
important that their use is kept to an absolute minimum.  
 

5.3 As included within the Month 5 monitoring report, Earmarked Reserves totalling £0.402m 
and Revenue Grant Reserves totalling £0.030m had been requested and reviewed by the 
Chief Executive and the Section 151 Officer in line with the approved reserves policy. Use 
of these reserves will reduce the general reserve total to a projected year end balance of 
£33.342m. There have been no further requests as at the end of Quarter 2. 
 

5.4 It should be noted by Members, that whilst there are a number of management actions 
being implemented to address the projected in year deficit and the delivery of all budget 
reductions, to the extent that mitigations do not cover the deficit, there would need to be a 
further unbudgeted call on reserves. Any additional use of reserves to offset any 
unmitigated forecast deficit in year will adversely impact the financial resilience of the 
Council and is not sustainable. 
 

6 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
 

6.1 The Quarter 2 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position is an in-year overspend of 
£10.048m, which is an adverse movement of £1.414m compared to the position reported 
to the last Schools Forum in June 25. The overall DSG deficit position is therefore, currently 
forecast to be £8.886m at the year end.  The most significant pressure remains within the 
High Need Block (HNB), which has deteriorated by a further £1.414m compared to the 
Quarter 1 position.  The current position has not been reported to the Schools Forum. Work 
is ongoing and an updated position will be presented at the next meeting scheduled for 3 
December 2025. 
 

Table 4 - Dedicated Schools Grant: Quarter 2 
 

  
Budget 

£000 

Forecast 
£000 

Variance 
£000 

Movement 
£000  

Schools Block 274,777 276,157 (1,380) 0 

Central School Services Block (CSSB) 2,559 2,559 0 0 

Early Years Block 38,410 38,732 (322) 0 

High Needs Block 66,954 75,300 (8,346) (1,414) 

Sub Total 382,700 392,748 (10,048) (1,414) 

Deficit/ Surplus Brought Forward   1,182 1,182   

Cumulative Deficit/ Surplus    393,930 (8,866) (1,414) 

Page 73



[Document title] 

 

12 

 

6.2 The main points to note are as follows: 
 

• There was a 2024/25 DSG surplus of £1.182m carried forward into 2025/26, this 
included £1.380m for Growth Fund underspend within the Schools Block. This is fully 
committed in 2025/26 and accounts for the forecast overspend within the schools 
Block in the current financial year. 

• Expenditure within the Central Services Block is currently forecast to budget. 

• There is a projected overspend of £0.322m within the Early Years Block offsetting 
the underspend carried forward from 2024/25.  

• Had both the above underspends not been recommitted for 2025/26 the final DSG 
outturn for 2024/25 would have been in a deficit position at the end of 2024/25 of 
£0.520m 

• An increased pressure of £1.414m within the High Needs Block (HNB), relates to 
further escalation in costs relating to Out of Borough and Special School provision. 

• The DSG is a ringfenced account and there is currently a statutory override which 
excludes the deficit from being counted against the Council’s reserves position. The 
Government has announced that it will extend this statutory override to keep 
Councils’ spending deficits for Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 
off their balance sheets for another two years until the end of 2027/28. 

• Funding announcements in relation to the 4 blocks of the DSG are most likely to be 
made public in December. The current forecast assumes increases comparable to 
those in the previous year and any deviation could have an impact on the forecast 
position, particularly in relation to the High Needs Block.   

  
  

Page 74



[Document title] 

 

13 

 

7 Housing Revenue Account Budget & Forecast (2025/26) 
 
Table 5 – Housing Revenue Account - Quarter 2 
 

  

Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 

Spend 
as at Q2 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
From 

Budget 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

      

Income           

Dwelling Rents (10,579) (10,571) (4,048) (10,641) (70) 

Service Charges & Other Income (1,354) (1,503) (734) (1,499) 4 

PFI Credits (18,799) (18,799) (4,700) (18,799) 0 

Interest on Balances (200) (200) 0 (200) 0 

Total Revenue Income (30,932) (31,073) (9,482) (31,138) (66) 

      

Expenditure           

Repairs & Maintenance 52 51 35 91 40 

Utilities 788 778 197 765 (13) 

Rents & Rates 117 116 3 115 (1) 

RCCO 3,193 1 0 0 (1) 

PFI Management Costs inc MRP 27,405 27,604 12,363 27,577 (27) 

Other Supervision & Management 1,015 1,002 0 959 (43) 

Central Overheads 984 892 0 873 (19) 

Other Miscellaneous 787 776 299 781 5 

Depreciation 80 307 0 305 (1) 

Adjustments to the Loss Allowance 0 136 0 150 14 

Total Revenue Expenditure 34,421 31,661 12,898 31,615 (46) 

            

Total HRA (Surplus)/Deficit 3,489 589 3,415 477 (112) 

 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

 
7.1 The HRA for 2024/25 produced a surplus of £3.34m which was transferred to the HRA 

Reserve at year end.  The main reason for such a significant variance was PFI Management 
Costs. These were reported as lower than expected due to a change in the accounting 
treatment. Effectively, this has resulted in additional monies being transferred to the 
reserve, and this will be required to pay off associated debt in future years. 

 
7.2 The original budget for 2025/26 was prepared in January 2025 and has subsequently been 

revised to reflect changes where appropriate. The greatest change is a reduction in the 
Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay (RCCO) budget, which has reduced by over £3m 
due to a delay in the expected requirement to contribute towards the refurbishment of 
Metropolitan House. 

 

Page 75



[Document title] 

 

14 

 

7.3 The latest HRA forecast for 2025/26 shows a required drawdown of £0.477m from the HRA 
reserve, compared to a revised budgeted drawdown of £0.589m. The main areas where 
the forecasts vary from budget are as follows: 

 
• Income (Rents and Service Charges) – income £0.070m higher than budgeted  

• Other Supervision & Management - £0.043m – mainly staffing savings 

• Utility Costs – Currently forecast to underspend by £0.013m compared to the budget. 
Most costs come through in Quarters 3 and 4 so this is subject to change. 

• PFI Management Savings - £0.027m 
 

7.4 These are offset by: 
 

• additional costs of £0.040m on Repairs and Maintenance, mainly heating repairs at 
Holly Bank 

• a further net £0.001m on various other areas of spend. 
 

HRA Capital Programme 
 

7.5 There was minimal capital expenditure (£0.001m) during 2024/25, and it is anticipated that 
this will remain the case during 2025/26. Capital expenditure consists of: 
 

• works to properties outside of the PFI agreements 

• works to PFI properties that are outside the scope of the PFI agreement. 
 

HRA Reserves Position 
 

7.6 Reserves at the start of 2025/26 stood at £24.447m, and the forecast balance would see 
this reduce to £23.970m. 
 

7.7 The level of reserves is required to meet future commitments in the Housing Revenue 
Account, and to ensure that the PFI schemes can be funded as the corresponding 
Government credits do not increase to take account of inflationary pressures. 

 
7.8 In addition, a change in the way that interest repayment on the two PFI schemes is 

accounted for has resulted in £2.273m of the current reserves being specifically earmarked 
for repayment of interest after the PFI contracts have ended. 
 
Table 6 – Housing Revenue Account Forecast Reserves position – Quarter 2 
 

HRA Reserve  £000  

Balance brought forward from 2024/25 (24,447) 

Forecast Transfer to HRA 2025/26 477 

Forecast Balance at 2025/26 Year End (23,970) 

 
 
 
 

Page 76



[Document title] 

 

15 

 

8 Revenue Funding and Collection Fund 
 

8.1 Council Tax and Business Rates are a significant source of funding for Council services 
with income from these areas highly volatile. The 2025/26 financial year is no different with 
the on-going impact of the cost-of-living crisis having an impact on Council Tax collection. 
As such, the financial position of the Collection Fund is under constant review.  
 

8.2 It is often difficult to forecast a likely outturn position on Council Tax and Business Rates, 
given the patterns of cash collection, claims for Council Tax Support and exemptions have 
not yet matured. A detailed update will be provided in the Quarter 3 report.  
 

8.3 The Greater Manchester (GM) 100% Business Rates Retention Scheme has continued 
into 2025/26. Any financial benefits arising from membership within the pilot scheme will 
continue to be monitored.  

 
8.4 For 2026/27, the Government has announced a National Business Rates Reset which will 

look to redistribute funding across the whole system. Greater Manchester has its own 
Business Rates Retention Scheme which will result in a partial Business Rates Reset for 
the region, whereby an element of growth will be retained by the GM scheme before the 
national reset applies. This is a highly complex area of work with limited information 
available around the impact for GM and for Oldham itself. It is expected that the 
forthcoming Policy Statement will provide further clarity on the impact of the Business 
Rates Reset, and updates will be provided as part of the Council’s budget setting process. 
 

9 Summary  
 

9.1 The current projected position as at the end of Quarter 2, shows a potentially significant 
adverse position by the end of the financial year but which has improved from the position 
previously reported. This remains a serious concern for the Council and early actions have 
been taken by the Executive Team to address this position with work continuing across the 
whole organisation to reduce the position wherever possible. With the reduced level of 
reserves held by the Council it is important that this position continues to be addressed as 
a priority and must be reduced by year end to limit the impact it has on the financial 
sustainability of the Council.   
 

7.1 Whilst 83% of savings delivered or with the potential to deliver after targeted intervention, 
given the overall financial pressures facing the Council, the uncertainty around the 
deliverability of the remaining 17% of savings is of concern. Any non-achievement of 
savings not only impacts the current year position but has implications on future years 
budgets. Delivery of all budget reductions must be achieved for 2025/26 to ensure no 
unbudgeted use of general revenue reserves are required. This will continue to be closely 
monitored through the monthly Delivery Board meetings.     

 
7.2 The increasing need for use of the Council’s services from residents and businesses, the 

complexity of the support needed, and inflationary costs continue to put pressure on service 
budgets and is demonstrated by the Quarter 2 forecast outturn position. These pressures, 
in the main driven by escalating costs in essential statutory services supporting the most 
vulnerable residents, reflects the broader challenges the Council and numerous Councils 

Page 77



[Document title] 

 

16 

 

across the country are facing. This is particularly acute in statutory and heavily inspected 
services where there is little flexibility to mitigate rising costs, for example increasing 
pressures on social care budgets due to the support needs of vulnerable children and 
complexity in the needs of adult requiring support. There is also an increasing need to 
support children with Special Educational Needs (SEND) and whilst significant work has 
been done in the last 12 months, homelessness presentations and use of temporary 
accommodation is still of concern given the numbers accessing this service.  

 
7.3 This position is not specific to Oldham. Councils across the country continue to warn of 

financial distress and the risk of bankruptcy if insufficiency of funding and areas of budget 
pressure are not addressed by government.  The numbers of Councils expected to request 
temporary assistance by way of Exceptional Financial Support (EFS) is expected to 
increase dramatically as part of the setting of the budget for 2026/27 and future years.  
 

7.4 Given, the in-year financial position of the Council, the level of reserves available and the 
budgetary gaps already within the MTFS, the outcome of the Local Government Finance 
Settlement for 2026/27 and future years will have a significant influence on the financial 
sustainability of the Council and the Council’s ability to set a balanced budget over the short 
term. The budget pressures the Council has faced in recent years cannot be mitigated 
indefinitely given the resources available.   
 

7.5 Alongside this the Council will also need to consider how it continues to deliver local 
services. This will require Members to make challenging decisions. Without this 
combination of a national and local approach the Council’s longer term financial robustness 
and resilience will be impacted, and the medium-term financial challenge will become 
increasingly difficult to manage and mitigate.  
 

7.6 In view of the adverse variance reported it is important that mitigations are continued to be 
found and implemented to address the in-year position but also to reduce any impacts on 
the 2026/27 position. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



[Document title] 

 

17 

 

APPENDIX 1 – 2025/26 Directorate Summary Financial Positions at 30 September 2025 

 

DIRECTORATE SERVICE AREA

Qtr 2 

Annual 

Budget 

£000

Qtr 2 

Annual 

Forecast 

£000

 Annual 

Forecast 

Variance 

£000

Adult Social Care Commissioning 15,718 15,698 (20)

Community Business Services 893 862 (31)

Clusters 3,275 3,777 502

Community Health & Social Care 30,951 36,278 5,326

Director Adult Social Care 1,638 1,623 (15)

Learning Disability 17,837 21,050 3,213

Mental Health 11,518 13,194 1,677

Clusters 276 382 106

Safeguarding 584 572 (13)

Adult Social Care Total 82,691 93,436 10,745

Children's Services Children in Care 53,231 59,091 5,860

Childrens Safeguarding 3,564 3,302 (262)

Fieldwork & Family Support 11,681 12,057 376

Children's Services Intergration 2,445 2,215 (230)

Central Education Services 847 847 0

Community / Adult Learning 300 300 (0)

Inclusion Service (428) (428) 0

Learning Services 257 258 1

Learning Services - Early Years (194) (194) (1)

Post 16 Service 44 45 1

School Support Services 76 36 (39)

SEND Services 7,938 8,006 68

Skills and Employment 84 84 (0)

Early Help 4,408 4,054 (354)

Troubled Families 1,936 1,824 (111)

Children's Services Total 86,189 91,498 5,308

Public Health Public Health (Client and Delivery) 20,324 20,202 (122)

Leisure Services 3,379 3,332 (46)

Public Health Total 23,703 23,534 (169)

Place Building Control 69 400 331

Strategic Planning 18,015 18,010 (5)

Development Control 70 (46) (115)

Housing Delivery 296 286 (10)

Facilities Management 609 711 102

Corporate Estates 37 1,616 1,579

Property Services (1,103) (1,546) (444)

Town Centre 569 2,706 2,137

Creating a Better Place (253) (253) 0

Structures 141 141 0

Operations 1,918 1,707 (211)

Traffic Management & Maintenance 1,870 1,838 (32)

Parking Admin & Enforcement (987) (958) 29

Health & Safety 291 289 (2)

Environmental Health 1,027 974 (53)

Licensing & Trading Standards (6) 63 69

First Response (155) 851 1,006

Street Lighting 4,316 4,258 (58)

Waste & Cleansing 24,643 26,017 1,374

Parks / Ground Maintenance 4,965 5,055 89

Arboriculture 588 587 (1)

Emergency Planning 62 129 67

Fleet (252) (255) (2)

Community Safety & Cohesion 650 566 (84)

Districts 1,171 1,107 (63)

Culture 6,393 6,379 (14)

Youth Services 848 865 17

Housing Needs 7,495 7,369 (126)

Place Total 73,286 78,865 5,578

Page 79



[Document title] 

 

18 

 

 
 

 

 

DIRECTORATE SERVICE AREA

Qtr 2 

Annual 

Budget 

£000

Qtr 2 

Annual 

Forecast 

£000

 Annual 

Forecast 

Variance 

£000

Resources Partnership Support (Borough and GM) 1,829 1,829 0

Strategic Customer Service 256 256 0

Chief Executive Management 2,231 2,209 (22)

Communications and Research 587 536 (50)

Customer Services 1,991 2,004 13

ICT 5,951 5,951 0

Democratic and Civic Services 324 384 60

Audit 2,543 2,522 (21)

Commissioning and Procurement 633 445 (188)

Democratic and Civic Services 472 440 (32)

External Funding (27) (27) (0)

Finance 2,759 2,580 (180)

Housing Benefit Payments 393 393 0

Revenues and Benefits 4,400 4,400 (0)

Transformation and Reform 259 (55) (315)

HR Strategy 2,850 2,619 (231)

Organisational Development 416 416 0

Democratic and Civic Services 2,444 2,418 (25)

Legal 1,863 2,553 690

Registrars (87) (143) (57)

Strategy and Performance 1,369 1,357 (12)

Resources Total 33,457 33,087 (370)

Capital Treasury and Technical 

Accounting
Corporate Expenses 11,978 11,978 0

Interest and Investment Expenditure and 

Income
11,305 11,305 0

Corporate and Democratic Core 1,003 1,003 0

Parish Precepts 400 400 0

Capital Treasury and Technical 

Accounting Total
24,686 24,686 0

Grand Total 324,012 345,106 21,094

Page 80



 

ANNEX 2 

CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME 2025/26- 2029/30 

& 2025/26 MONITORING REPORT Month 6 (September) 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 The original capital programme for 2025/26 reflected the priorities outlined in the 

Capital Strategy as approved at Cabinet on 17 February 2025 and confirmed at the 
Council meeting on 6 March 2025. 

 
1.2 The position at the end of Month 6 (September 2025) is highlighted in this report. 
 
1.3 For the remainder of the financial year, the programme will continue to be 

monitored and revised to take account of any new developments and changes in 
the profile of planned expenditure. 

 
 Current Position 
 
2.1 Table 1 below shows the capital programme for 2025/26 and a further four years 

to 2029/30, and reflects the priorities outlined in the Capital Strategy. 
 
Table 1 – 2025/30 Capital Strategy  

Directorate 
Budget 

2025/26 
£000 

2026/27 
£000 

2027/28 
£000 

2028/29 
£000 

2029/30 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Community Health and Adult Social 
Care 

4,106 3,000 3,000 - - 10,106 

Children's Services 10,482 3,151 2,000 - - 15,632 

Communities 338 - - - - 338 

Place  80,617 14,997 15,501 2,055 - 113,170 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 3,193 206 210 215 219 4,043 

Resources/Information Technology 
(IT) 

3,165 3,123 2,595 1,877 - 10,760 

Capital, Treasury & Technical 
Accounting 

3,600 2,628 4,373 2,500 5,000 18,101 

Funding for Emerging Priorities 3,000 2,885 2,000 - - 7,885 

Total Expenditure 108,501 29,990 29,680 6,647 5,219 180,037 
 

Funding 
2025/26 

£000 
2026/27 

£000 
2027/28 

£000 
2028/29 

£000 
2029/30 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Grant & Other Contributions (60,800) (9,736) (9,558) (780) -  (80,874) 

Prudential Borrowing (39,855) (17,480) (17,660) (3,343) (3,000) (81,338) 

Revenue Contributions (3,193) (206) (210) (215) (219) (4,043) 

Capital Receipts (4,653) (2,567) (2,252) (2,309) (2,000) (13,781) 

Grand Total (108,501) (29,990) (29,680) (6,647) (5,219) (180,037) 

 
2.2 Following the 2025/26 M05 report which was approved at Cabinet on 20 October 

2025, the 2025/26 Capital Programme has been revised to reflect any additional 
funding and/or anticipated reprofiling. 

 
 

Page 81



2 

Realignment of Schemes 
 
2.3 Six school boiler replacement schemes totalling £0.326m have been taken from 

Children’s services and assigned to the Corporate Assets service. 
 
2.4 The revised capital programme for 2025/26 to 2029/30, considering all the above 

amendments in arriving at the revised forecast position, is shown in Table 2 
together with the projected financing profile. 

 
Table 2  – 2025/26 to 2029/30 Current Capital Programme (all years) 

Directorate 
Budget 

2025/26 
£000 

2026/27 
£000 

2027/28 
£000 

2028/29 
£000 

2029/30 
£000 

TOTAL 
£000 

Community Health and 
Adult Social Care 

4,646 3,000 3,500 - - 11,146 

Children's Services 6,247 7,786 6,456 2,184 - 22,673 

Communities 245 - - - - 245 

Heritage, Libraries and 
Arts 

491 - - - - 491 

Place  101,660 17,738 15,531 1,955 - 136,884 

Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) 

1,403 7,195 2,220 215 219 11,252 

Resources/Information 
Technology (IT) 

3,956 2,137 2,595 1,877  10,565 

Capital, Treasury & 
Technical Accounting 

3,600 2,640 4,374 2,500 5,000 18,114 

Funding for Emerging 
Priorities 

- 2,577 2,000 2,506 - 7,083 

Grand Total 122,248 43,073 36,676 11,237 5,219 218,453 

 

Funding 
2025/26 

£000 
2026/27 

£000 
2027/28 

£000 
2028/29 

£000 
2029/30 

£000 
TOTAL 
£000 

Grant & Other 
Contributions 

(81,174) (21,345) (16,114) (780) -  (119,413) 

Prudential Borrowing (34,026) (16,970) (18,260) (7,933) (3,000) (80,189) 

Revenue Contributions  (1,486) (2,195) (210) (215) (219) (4,325) 

Capital Receipts (5,562) (2,563) (2,092) (2,309) (2,000) (14,527) 

Grand Total (122,248) (43,073) (36,676) (11,237) (5,219) (218,453) 

 
2.5 This leaves the revised 2025/26 capital programme at £122.248m compared with 

the M05 position presented to Cabinet of £122.222m, an increase of £0.026m 
between Month 5 and Month 6  which has been approved as part of other decision 
processes within September – as below: 

 

Schemes/Funding £m 

New Disabled Facilities Grant Contributions 0.026 

Total 0.026 

 
2.6 As a result of the approved movements since the last reporting period the current 

2025/26 Programme is presented in Table 3 by Directorate below.   
 
 
 

Page 82



3 

Table 3 – Current year  

Directorate 
Budget 

Capital 
Strategy 
2025-30 

£000 

Revised 
Budget 
(M05) 
£000 

Approved 
Virements  

(M06) 
£000 

Proposed 
Virements  

(M06) 
£000 

Current 
Budget 
(M06) 
£000 

Spend 
to M06 
£000 

Community Health and 
Adult Social Care 

4,106 4,620 26 - 4,646 1,325 

Children's Services 10,482 6,573 (326) - 6,247 801 

Communities 338 245  - 245 - 

Heritage, Libraries and 
Arts 

- 491  - 491 458 

Place 80,617 101,334 326 - 101,660 22,866 

Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) 

3,193 1,403  - 1,403 1 

Resources/Information 
Technology (IT) 

3,165 3,956  - 3,956 522 

Capital, Treasury & 
Technical Accounting 

3,600 3,600  - 3,600 - 

Funding for Emerging 
Priorities 

3,000 -  - - - 

Grand Total 108,501 122,222 26 - 122,248 25,973 

 
2.7  Given that this is the position as at Month 6 and in view of the current challenges 

being faced including the pressure caused by the economic position, there must 
remain an element of uncertainty about the forecast position. A further breakdown 
of Table 3 on a service-by-service area basis is shown at Appendices A to I. 

 
2.8 Actual expenditure to 30 September was £25.973m (21.2% of the proposed 

forecast outturn). This spending profile is lower than last years (31.3%). The 
position will be kept under review and budgets will be managed in accordance with 
forecasts. 

 
Capital Receipts 
 

2.9 The capital programme requires the availability of £5.562m of capital receipts in 
2025/26 for financing purposes. This includes £2.600m to support transformational 
activity in the General Fund using the flexibility allowed by Government.  

 
The total net usable capital receipts currently received in year is £0.503m, the first 
call being the £2.600m outlined above.  

 
2.10 The capital receipts position as at 30 September 2025 is as follows: 

 
Table 4 – Capital Receipts 2025/26 

 £000 £000 

Capital Receipts Financing Requirement  5,562 

Usable Capital Receipt b/fwd. -  

Actual capital receipts received to date (503)  

Identified in year capital receipts (4,520)  
Anticipated shortfall in 2025/26  539 

 

 

2.11 Given the significant amount of capital receipts needed to finance the capital 
programme in this and future years it is imperative that the capital receipts/disposal 

Page 83



4 

schedule is adhered to. This is monitored at the monthly Capital Receipts meeting 
and will be subject to on-going review throughout the year. It is of course 
recognised that the ongoing economic instability with high interest rates and the 
impact on borrowing costs, coupled with the increase cost of living will continue to 
impact on business/economic activities making capital disposals more challenging. 

 
2.12 The Capital Strategy and Capital Programme 2025/30 incorporates an expectation 

of the level of receipts that is anticipated in each of the respective years and 
therefore an estimate as to the resultant level of over or under programming in 
order to present a balanced budget. As can be seen below, the most recent review 
has produced a forecast which is below the financing projections included in Table 
2. Should the currently estimated position prevail then the position would be as 
illustrated in the table below: 

 
Table 5 – Capital Receipts 2025/26 to 2029/30 

Capital Receipts 
2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Capital Receipts Carried 
Forward 

- 539 (4,488) (4,936) (2,883) 

Identified Capital Receipts (4,520) (7,590) (2,540) (256) - 

Received in year (503)     

Total Receipts (5,023) (7,051) (7,028) (5,192) (2,883) 

Capital Receipts Financing 
Requirement 

5,562 2,563 2,092 2,309 2,000 

Over/(Under) programming 539 (4,488) (4,936) (2,883) (883) 

 
2.13 The capital receipts forecast (across all years) is currently higher than the required 

amount. Since this is the Month 6 position and there is the opportunity for the 
forecast to change, at this stage it is considered appropriate to retain the original 
forecast and review this during the course of the current year. The consequence 
should the level of capital receipts fall is either, a corresponding increase in the 
level of prudential borrowing and hence an impact on the revenue budget, or a 
reduction in the overall capital programme. 

 
 

Annual Review of the Capital Programme 
 
2.14 In accordance with previous practice, there is once again a review of the capital 

programme over the summer months and this is still continuing (the Annual 
Review). This review is examining any further opportunities to reallocate, 
decommission or reprofile resources. It will also include an in-depth analysis of 
capital receipts to support a revised forecast.  

 
3 Conclusion 
 

3.1 Whilst the current projected position is showing the outturn to match the budget, a 
detailed review of the capital programme (the Annual Review) is being undertaken 
to establish if there are any surplus resources that can be realigned or any further 
re-profiling required. It is therefore likely that there will be further rephasing across 
all years to reflect developments relating to individual projects/schemes.  

 
3.2 The capital programme is being continually monitored and is reported to Members 

on a regular basis. 

Page 84



5 

 
4 Appendices  
 
4.1 Appendix A - SUMMARY – Month 6 - Community Health and Adult Social Care 
 Appendix B - SUMMARY – Month 6 - Children’s Service 
 Appendix C - SUMMARY – Month 6 - Communities 
 Appendix D - SUMMARY – Month 6 - Heritage, Libraries and Arts 
 Appendix E - SUMMARY – Month 6 - Place 
 Appendix F - SUMMARY – Month 6 - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 Appendix G - SUMMARY – Month 6 - Corporate/Information Technology 
 Appendix H - SUMMARY – Month 6 - Capital Treasury and Technical Accounting 
 Appendix I - SUMMARY – Month 6 - Funding for Emerging Priorities 

   

Page 85



6 

SUMMARY – Month 6 (September 2025) - Community Health and Adult Social Care  APPENDIX A 

Service area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 
(M05) 

Approved 
Virements 

(M06) 

Proposed 
Virements 

(M06) 

Revised 
Budget 
(M06) 

Expend 
to M06 

Adult Services 4,106 4,620 26 - 4,646 1,325 
Community Health and Adult Social Care Total 4,106 4,620 26 - 4,646 1,325 
       
       

SUMMARY – Month 6 (September 2025) – Children’s Services  APPENDIX B 

Service area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 
(M05) 

Approved 
Virements 

(M06) 

Proposed 
Virements 

(M06) 

Revised 
Budget 
(M06) 

Expend 
to M06 

Children, Young People and Families (CYPF) 1,000 1,378 - - 1,378 238 
Schools - General Provision 6,473 2,368 - - 2,368 269 
Schools – Primary - 1,201 (326) - 875 71 
Schools – Secondary 3,009 1,608 - - 1,608 201 
Schools – Special - 18 - - 18 2 
Schools – New Build - - - - - 20 
Children’s Services Total 10,482 6,573 (326) - 6,246 800 
 

      
       

SUMMARY – Month 6 (September 2025) – Communities  APPENDIX C 

Service area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 
(M05) 

Approved 
Virements 

(M06) 

Proposed 
Virements 

(M06) 

Revised 
Budget 
(M06) 

Expend 
to M06 

Local Investment Fund 338 245 - - 245 - 
Communities Total 338 245 - - 245 - 
 

      

       
       

       

       

       

       

P
age 86



7 

SUMMARY – Month 6 (September 2025) – Heritage, Libraries and Arts  APPENDIX D 

Service area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 
(M05) 

Approved 
Virements 

(M06) 

Proposed 
Virements 

(M06) 

Revised 
Budget 
(M06) 

Expend 
to M06 

Heritage, Libraries and Arts - 491  - 491 458 
Heritage, Libraries and Arts Total - 491  - 491 458 
        
 

      

SUMMARY – Month 6 (September 2025) – Place APPENDIX E 

Service area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 
(M05) 

Approved 
Virements 

(M06) 

Proposed 
Virements 

(M06) 

Revised 
Budget 
(M06) 

Expend 
to M06 

Asset Management – Corporate Premises 2,670 4,336 - - 4,336 1,054 
Asset Management - Education Premises 1,148 1,707 326 - 2,033 346 
Boroughwide Developments 28,177 26,904 - - 26,904 10,134 
Boroughwide District Projects 17 27 - - 27 - 
Cemeteries and Crematorium - - - - - 7 
Countryside 80 39 - - 39 2 
Parks 13 897 - - 897 446 
Playing Fields & Facilities - 49 - - 49 - 
Parks & Playing Fields 11 11 - - 11  
Private Housing 5,677 12,246 - - 12,246 38 
Strategic Acquisitions 1,647 2,147 - - 2,147 853 
Town Centre Developments 27,593 27,812 - - 27,812 7,036 
Transport - Accident Reduction 744 1,013 - - 1,013 220 
Transport - Bridges & Structures 4,107 9,484 - - 9,484 538 
Transport - Fleet Management 175 248 - - 248 - 
Transport - Highway Major Works/Drainage schemes 8,498 13,673 - - 13,673 2,052 
Transport - Minor Works 60 632 - - 632 103 
Miscellaneous - 109 - - 109 37 
Place and Economic Growth Total 80,617 101,334 326 - 101,660 22,866 
 

     
 

       
 

      

P
age 87



8 

SUMMARY – Month 6 (September 2025) - Housing Revenue Account (HRA APPENDIX F 

Service area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 
(M05) 

Approved 
Virements 

(M06) 

Proposed 
Virements 

(M06) 

Revised 
Budget 
(M06) 

Expend 
to M06 

Housing Revenue Account 3,193 1,403 - - 1,403 1 
HRA Total 3,193 1,403 - - 1,403 1 
 

      
 -  -  -  -  -  -  

SUMMARY – Month 6 (September 2025) – Resources/Information Technology (IT)  APPENDIX G 

Service area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 
(M05) 

Approved 
Virements 

(M06) 

Proposed 
Virements 

(M06) 

Revised 
Budget 
(M06) 

Expend 
to M06 

Information Technology 3,165 3,956 - - 3,956 522 
Information Technology Total 3,165 3,956 - - 3,956 522 
        
       

SUMMARY – Month 6 (September 2025) – Capital Treasury and Technical Accounting APPENDIX H 

Service area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 
(M05) 

Approved 
Virements 

(M06) 

Proposed 
Virements 

(M06) 

Revised 
Budget 
(M06) 

Expend 
to M06 

Cross Cutting /Corporate 3,600 3,600 - - 3,600 - 
Capital Treasury and Technical Accounting Total 3,600 3,600 - - 3,600 - 
        
 

      

SUMMARY – Month 6 (September 2025) - Funding for Emerging Priorities  APPENDIX I 

Service area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 
(M05) 

Approved 
Virements 

(M06) 

Proposed 
Virements 

(M06) 

Revised 
Budget 
(M06) 

Expend 
to M06 

Funding for Emerging Priorities 3,000 - - - - - 
Funding for Emerging Priorities Total 3,000 - - - - - 
 

      
 

      

TOTAL  108,501 122,222 26 - 122,248 25,973 
       

 

P
age 88



Age

Disability

Pregnancy
and maternity

Sexual
orientation

Gender
reassignment

Sex

Marriage
and civil

partnership

Religion
or belief

Race

Digitisation

Safeguarding

Ex-service
personnel

Income

Residents
first

Place-based
working

Preventative
approach

Education

Work

Transport

Homes

Healthy
and
safe

Clean
and

green

Community
and

leisure

Pride
and

cohesion

Positive

Negative

Neutral

Unknown

IMPACT SCORE

Positive

Negative

Neutral

Unknown

IMPACT SCORE

Equality
Characteristics

Corporate
Priorities

Future
Oldham

Aims

Annex 3- EIA: Financial Monitoring 25/26 (Mth 6)

Impact Likelihood Duration Comment

Equality Characteristics

Age

Disability

Gender reassignment

Marriage and civil partnership

Pregnancy and maternity

Race

Religion or belief

Sex

Sexual orientation

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

The report considers the 2025/26 financial position of 
the Council at Month 6 (30 September 2025) 
and as such, in isolation has no direct impact on 
Equality

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

Corporate Priorities

Safeguarding

Ex-service personnel

Income

Residents first

Place-based working

Digitisation

Preventative approach

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

The report considers the 2025/26 financial position of 
the Council at Month 6 (30 September 2025) 
and as such, in isolation has no direct impact on 
Equality

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

Future Oldham Aims

Education

Work

Transport

Homes

Healthy and safe

Clean and green

Community and leisure

Pride and cohesion

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Possible

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

Short
Term

The report considers the 2025/26 financial position of 
the Council at Month 6 (30 September 2025) 
and as such, in isolation has no direct impact on 
Equality

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

As Above

Annex 3 - EIA: Financial Monitoring 25/26 (Mth 6)

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance, Strategy and Resources Work Programme 2025/26 v2     

 

Governance, Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board 
 

Work Programme 2025/2026 
 

Agenda item Purpose Portfolio lead & 
officer lead 

Method of scrutiny  Additional information 

Thursday, 9th October 2025 

Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment 
Programme 2025/26 Q1 
 

    

Local Government Ombudsman – Annual 
Report 2024-25 (Final draft) 

To provide the Scrutiny Board 
with the findings from the final 
communication from the LGO 
to enable evidence-based 
discussion on strengths and 
development areas and to 
understand our performance in 
comparison with national and 
reginal trends.   

Cllr Arooj Shah 
Fran Lautman 

Written report and 
discussion 

 

Thursday, 4th December 2025 

Performance Assurance Report – 2025/26 Q2     

Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment 
Programme 2025/26 Quarter 2 

    

Review of the Digital, Data and Technology 
Strategy – 2025 – 2030 
  

To provide the Scrutiny Board 
with an overview of the 
strategy, the desired outcomes 
and provide initial feedback 
and considerations. 

Cllr Abdul Jabbar  
Matt Gratton 

Presentation and 
discussion 
 

Deferred from July 
meeting. 

Complaints and Compliments Annual Reports 
2024/25 and Policies: 

- Resources   

- Place  

- Housing  

- Adult Social Care  

- Children Services and Education 
 

- Corporate complaints policy  

- Adult Social Care complaints policy  

- Children Services complaints policy  

- Children’s homes complaints policy  

- Housing complaints policy  

To provide the Scrutiny Board 
with an overview of Complaints 
and Compliments performance 
for 2024-25 to enable 
evidence-based discussion on 
strengths and development 
areas as well as plans to 
improve performance. 
 
To provide the Scrutiny Board 
with an updated suite of 
Complaints Policy following the 
annual review. For Scrutiny 

Cllr Arooj Shah   
Fran Lautman 

  

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 9



Governance, Strategy and Resources Work Programme 2025/26 v2     

 

- Unreasonable behaviour policy Board to provide feedback and 
comment. 
  
 
 

Wednesday 28th January 2026 (Administration Budget) 

Revenue, Monitor and Capital Investment 
Programme 2025/26 Month 9 

    

Revenue Budget Report 2026/27 and Medium-
Term Financial Strategy 

    

Capital Strategy and Capital Programme     

Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27     

Housing Revenue Account     

Thursday 5th February 2026 

Opposition Budget     

Tuesday 24th March 2026 

Performance Assurance Report – 2025/26 Q3     

Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment 
Programme 2025/26 Month 10 

    

Final report of the Task and Finish Group on 
the review of financial support services 

    

 
Task and finish groups 
 

Deep dive area: Expanded proposal: 

Review of Financial Support Services (Customer Experience) 
 

By 1 April 2026, a new operating model will be in place to deliver a resident 
focused and preventive approach to supporting residents to maximise their 
income. 
 
Feedback on the current approach and considerations for the new operating 
model are sought from Scrutiny committee.  

Contract management arrangements The Task and Finish Group will select a high value contract to scrutinse the 
performance and oversight arrangements, to look at what is working well and 
what might need to be strengthened, and how any learning can be applied to 
other contracts.  
 

 

P
age 92



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 OCTOBER 2025  
 

1 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

 

FCR-01-25 
 

Transformation Partnership Executive Director - 
Resources 

20th October 2025 Cabinet 

Description:  To report on the Council’s transformation partnership work.   
 
Proposed Report Title: Transformation Partnership  
 
Background Documents: Appendices   
 
Report to be considered in Public/Private: NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and it is not in the public interest to disclose the information because it relates to the financial or business affairs 
of the Council or a third party. 

EE-02-25 
 

Oldham Community Leisure (OCL) Utilities Director of Public 
Health 

20th October 2025 Cabinet 

Description:  
To report on the provision of utilities at sites across Oldham Community Leisure’s (OCL) footprint.   
 
Proposed Report Title: Oldham Community Leisure (OCL) Utilities 
 
Background Documents: Appendices   
 
Report to be considered in Public/Private: NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and it is not in the public interest to disclose the information because it relates to the financial or business affairs 
of the Council or a third party. 

EE-03-25 
New! 

Oldham Active (OCL) - Agency Model Director of Public 
Health 

20th October 2025 Cabinet 

P
age 93

A
genda Item

 10



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 OCTOBER 2025  
 

2 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

Description:  
To report on the provision of an agency model for Oldham Active scheme, at leisure sites across Oldham Community Leisure’s footprint.   
 
Proposed Report Title: Oldham Active (OCL) - Agency Model 
 
Background Documents: Appendices   
 
Report to be considered in Public/Private: NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and it is not in the public interest to disclose the information because it relates to the financial or business affairs 
of the Council or a third party. 

EDS-07-25 
 

Speech, Language and Communication Needs 
Business Case 

Director of Education, 
Skills & Early Years 

20th October 2025 Cabinet 

Description:  
To develop a borough-wide speech, language and communication needs business case 
 
Proposed Report Title: Speech, Language and Communication Needs Business Case  
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various appendices attached to the report 
 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Public 
:  

 
EDS-11-25 

Change Partnership Programme (CPP) delivery 
(inc. ELSEC/APST): grant requirements 

Director of Education, 
Skills & Early Years 

20th October 2025 Cabinet 

P
age 94



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 OCTOBER 2025  
 

3 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

Description:  
To highlight funding opportunities to the Council available from the Change Partnership Programme. 
 
Proposed Report Title: Change Partnership Programme (CPP) delivery (inc. ELSEC/APST): grant requirements 
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various appendices attached to the report 
 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Public 
 

RBO-09-
25 

Sites of Biological Importance Update Deputy Chief 
Executive - Place 

20th October 2025 Cabinet 

Description:  
The reason for this decision is to designate a new Site of Biological Importance (SBI) and adopt changes which have occurred to other 
SBI boundaries within the borough.  
 
Appendix 1 provides a map of the new SBI (Ladcastle Heath) and maps of the other SBI boundary changes (Medlock Headwater & 
Strinesdale, Moorgate Quarry and Armit Road Lodge). These changes are outlined in Appendix 2 and 3 alongside details of the other 
SBIs reviewed. 

Proposed Report Title: Sites of Biological Importance Update 
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various appendices attached to the report 
 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Public 
 
 

P
age 95



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 OCTOBER 2025  
 

4 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

 
HLO-04-25 

Temporary Accommodation Procurement 
Exercises – Nightly-Paid and Emergency 
Accommodation 

Director of 
Communities 

20th October 2025 Cabinet 

Description:  
The report provides an update on proposals regarding Temporary Accommodation Procurement Exercises – Nightly-Paid and 
Emergency Accommodation. 
 
Proposed Report Title: Temporary Accommodation Procurement Exercises – Nightly-Paid and Emergency Accommodation 
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various 
 
Report to be considered in Public 

 
HLO-05-25 

Extend the contract term for delivery of 
Accommodation Based Services for 12 months 
until 31st March 2027 

Director of 
Communities 

20th October 2025 Cabinet 

Description:  
The report provides an update on the proposal to Extend the contract term for delivery of Accommodation Based Services for 12 months 
until 31st March 2027. 
 
Proposed Report Title: Extend the contract term for delivery of Accommodation Based Services for 12 months until 31st March 2027 
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various 
 
Report to be considered in Public 

FCR-08-25 
New! 

Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment 
Programme 2025/26 Month 5 

Director of Finance 20th October 2025 Cabinet 

P
age 96



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 OCTOBER 2025  
 

5 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

Description:  
The report provides an update on the Council’s 2025/26 forecast revenue budget position and the financial position of the capital 
programme as at the period ending 31 August 2025 (Month 5). 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Proposed Report Title:  
 
Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment Programme 2025/26 Month 5 
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various 
 
Report to be considered in Public 
 

HL-07-25 
New! 

Approval of Grant Funding Agreement with 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority for the 
provision of Community Accommodation Service 
Tier 3 Phase Three 2025/27 

Director of 
Communities 

20th October 2025 Cabinet 

Description:  
The report seeks approval of Grant Funding Agreement with Greater Manchester Combined Authority for the provision of Community 
Accommodation Service Tier 3 Phase Three 2025/27 
 
Proposed Report Title: Approval of Grant Funding Agreement with Greater Manchester Combined Authority for the provision of 
Community Accommodation Service Tier 3 Phase Three 2025/27 
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various 
 
Report to be considered in Public 
 

P
age 97



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 OCTOBER 2025  
 

6 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

 
RBO-04-

25 

Approval to a) publish the Saddleworth 
Neighbourhood Plan for public consultation; and 
b) submit the Plan for independent examination 

Deputy Chief 
Executive - Place 

17th November 2025 Cabinet 

Description:  
Approval to a) publish the Saddleworth Neighbourhood Plan for public consultation; and b) submit the Plan for independent examination 
 
Proposed Report Title: Saddleworth Neighbourhood Plan 
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various  
 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Public 

EDS-12-25 
New! 

Approval to exercise the option to extend Short 
Breaks Play and Leisure Contract 

Director of Education, 
Skills & Early Years 

17th November 2025 Cabinet 

Description:  
Cabinet is asked to approve an option to extend the existing short breaks, play and leisure contract. 
 
Proposed Report Title: Approval to exercise the option to extend Short Breaks Play and Leisure Contract 
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various 
 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: public 

HSC-14-25 
New! 

Section 75 Partnership Agreement with the NHS 
Northern Care Alliance 

Director of Public 
Health 

15th December 2025 Cabinet 

P
age 98



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 OCTOBER 2025  
 

7 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

Description: to seek approval for a Section 75 Partnership Agreement with the NHS Northern Care Alliance 
 
Proposed report Title: Section 75 Partnership Agreement with the NHS Northern Care Alliance 
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various 
 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: public 

NEI-09-25 
New! 

United Utilities Plc Partnership Agreement Director of 
Environment 

15th December 2025 Cabinet 

Description approval for the Council to enter into a partnership agreement with United Utilities PLC. 
 
Proposed Report Title: United Utilities Plc Partnership Agreement 
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various 
 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: public 

 
 
 
 
 
Key: 
 
New! - indicates an item that has been added this month 

 
Notes: 

P
age 99



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 OCTOBER 2025  
 

8 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

1. The procedure for requesting details of documents listed to be submitted to decision takers for consideration is to contact the Contact 
Officer contained within the Key Decision Sheet for that item. The contact address for documents is Oldham Council, Civic Centre, 
West Street, Oldham, OL1 1UH. Other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to the decision maker. 
 

2. Where on a Key Decision Sheet the Decision Taker is Cabinet, the list of its Members are as follows: Councillors Arooj Shah (Chair 
of Cabinet), Elaine Taylor, Abdul Jabbar MBE, Shaid Mushtaq, Mohon Ali, Barbara Brownridge, Chris Goodwin and Peter Dean. 

 
3. Full Key Decision details (including documents to be submitted to the decision maker for consideration, specific contact officer details 

and notification on if a report if likely to be considered in private) can be found via the online published plan at: 
http://committees.oldham.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=144&RD=0  
 

 
 
Notice of Private Reports 
 
(In accordance with Part 2 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012)  
 
Oldham Borough Council intends to hold a private meeting (or part thereof) of the Cabinet on Monday, 20th October 2025 
 
Decision to be taken (Agenda Item) Decisions proposed to be taken in private at Cabinet on Monday, 20th October 2025:  
 

a. Transformation Partnership 
Reason: 
The meeting (or part thereof) will be held in exempt session on the grounds that the reports and background papers will contain the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) – information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of the Council and a third party.  
 

b. Oldham Community Leisure (OCL) Utilities Reason: 

P
age 100

http://committees.oldham.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=144&RD=0


KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 OCTOBER 2025  
 

9 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

The meeting (or part thereof) will be held in exempt session on the grounds that the reports and background papers will contain the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) – information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of the Council and a third party.  
 
Oldham Active (OCL) - Agency Model  
Reason: 
The meeting (or part thereof) will be held in exempt session on the grounds that the reports and background papers will contain the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) – information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of the Council and a third party.  
 
 
 
Representations: 
If you wish to make representations against the intention to hold a private meeting, please send these to Constitutional Services, JR Clynes 
Building, Cultural Quarter, Greaves Street, Oldham, OL1 1AT or email: constitutional.services@oldham.gov.uk  
 
 

P
age 101

mailto:constitutional.services@oldham.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Governance, Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board Meeting
	Minutes

	6 Performance Assurance Report - 2025/26 Q2
	Q2 GSR PAR-4-Dec-2025 PDF
	Introduction
	Slide 1: Performance Assurance Report: Resources Directorate 
	Slide 2: Directorate overview
	Slide 3: Quarter 2: Introduction from Fiona Greenway, Executive Director of Resources

	Balanced scorecard metrics
	Slide 4: Balanced scorecard metrics
	Slide 5: Customer Experience
	Slide 6: Workforce
	Slide 7: Access to information
	Slide 8: Access to information

	Finance directorate
	Slide 9: Finance
	Slide 10: Introduction from the Director of Finance
	Slide 11: Revenues and Benefits 
	Slide 12: Introduction from the Assistant Director of Revenues & Benefits
	Slide 13: Revenues and Benefits key metrics (target where set) 
	Slide 14: Revenues and Benefits key metrics (target where set) 

	Legal Directorate
	Slide 15: Legal & Monitoring Officer
	Slide 16: Introduction from the Director of Legal & Monitoring Officer
	Slide 17: Legal Services key metrics (target where set)

	Digital Directorate
	Slide 18: Digital
	Slide 19: Introduction from the Director of Digital
	Slide 20: IT (Operations) key metrics (target where set)
	Slide 21: IT (Operations) key metrics (target where set)

	Governance
	Slide 22: Governance
	Slide 23: Introduction from the Assistant Director of Governance
	Slide 24: Governance key metrics (target where set)

	HROD
	Slide 25: Workforce and Organisational Culture
	Slide 26: Introduction from the Assistant Director of Workforce & Organisational Culture
	Slide 27: HR & OD key metrics (target where set)
	Slide 28: HR & OD key metrics (target where set)

	Reflections from Cllr Jabbar
	Slide 29: Reflections from Cabinet Member, Cllr Jabbar MBE

	S&T
	Slide 30: Strategy and Transformation
	Slide 31: Introduction from the Assistant Director of Strategy & Transformation
	Slide 32: Communications & Engagement key metrics (target where set)
	Slide 33: Web key metrics (target where set)
	Slide 34: Reflections from Cabinet Member, Cllr Shah

	Customer Experience
	Slide 35: Customer Experience
	Slide 36: Introduction from the Assistant Director of Customer Experience
	Slide 37: Customer Support Centre key metrics (target where set)
	Slide 38: Blue Badges & Customer Support Centre key metrics (target where set)
	Slide 39: Complaints key metrics (target where set)
	Slide 40: Compliments key metrics (target where set)
	Slide 41: Registration Services key metrics (target where set*)
	Slide 42: Reflections from Cabinet Member, Cllr Shah
	Slide 43



	7 Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment Programme 2025/26 Quarter 2
	0. Cover report - Month 6 Financial Monitor 2025-26 GSR
	1. Annex 1 - Revenue Monitor 2025-26 Month 6 GSR
	2. Annex 2 - Capital Programme and Strategy M06
	3. Annex 3 - EIA

	9 Work Programme
	10 Key Decision Document



